Public Document Pack

Agenda Reports & Other Papers
Presented to the
Meeting of the
Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel
on
Thursday, 7 February 2019

1.

Agenda

1 - 130

Agenda

AGENDA FOR A MEETING OF THE EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM
CABINET PANEL IN COMMITTEE ROOM B ON THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019
AT 10:00AM
___________________________________________________________________
MEMBERS OF THE EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
(13) (Quorum 3)
A P Brewster, L A Chesterman (substituting for J Billing), C Clapper, T L F Douris
(Chairman), M S Hearn, N A Hollinghurst, J R Jones, A K Khan, A J S Mitchell (Vice
Chairman), A Plancey, A F Rowlands, M A Watkin, J F Wyllie
Meetings of the Panel are open to the public (this includes the press) and attendance
is welcomed. However, there may be occasions when the public are excluded from
the meeting for particular items of business. Any such items are taken at the end of
the public part of the meeting and are listed under “Part II (‘closed’) agenda”.
Committee Room B is fitted with an audio system to assist those with hearing
impairment. Anyone who wishes to use this should contact main (front) reception.
Members are reminded that all equalities implications and equalities
impact assessments undertaken in relation to any matter on this agenda must
be rigorously considered prior to any decision being reached on that matter.
Members are reminded that:
(1)

if they consider that they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any
matter to be considered at the meeting they must declare that interest and
must not participate in or vote on that matter unless a dispensation has
been granted by the Standards Committee;

(2)

if they consider that they have a Declarable Interest (as defined in
paragraph 5.3 of the Code of Conduct for Members) in any matter to be
considered at the meeting they must declare the existence and nature of
that interest. If a member has a Declarable Interest they should consider
whether they should participate in consideration and vote on the matter.

Agenda Pack Page 1
1

PART I (PUBLIC) AGENDA
1.

MINUTES
To agree the minutes (Part I and Part II) of the last meeting of the
Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel held on 11 December
2018.

2.

PUBLIC PETITIONS
The opportunity for any member of the public, being resident in
Hertfordshire, to present a petition relating to a matter with which the
Council is concerned, which is relevant to the remit of this Cabinet Panel
and which contains signatories who are either resident in or who work in
Hertfordshire.
Members of the public who are considering raising an issue of concern via
a petition are advised to contact their local member of the Council. The
Council's criterion and arrangements for the receipt of petitions are set out
in Annex 22 - Petitions Scheme of the Constitution.
If you have any queries about the petitions procedure for this meeting
please contact Stephanie Tarrant, Democratic Services Officer, by
telephone on (01992) 555481 or email
stephanie.tarrant@hertfordshire.gov.uk.
At the time of the publication of this agenda no notices of petitions have
been received.

3.

INTEGRATED PLAN 2019/20 - 2022/23 – EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND
LOCALISM
Joint Report of Interim Director of Resources and Director of Children’s
Services
Members are asked to bring the following reports to the meeting:
‘Public Engagement on the Integrated Plan 2019/20 – 2022/23’
(circulated as Item 4(i) for the Cabinet meeting of 18 January 2019); and
‘Integrated Plan 2019/20 – 2022/23 (incorporating the Strategic Direction
and Financial Consequences and the Treasury Management Strategy)’
(circulated as Item 4(ii) for the Cabinet meeting of 22 January 2018).

4.

STANDARDS AND QUALITY IN HERTFORDSHIRE SCHOOLS
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

5.

PROPOSALS TO UPDATE HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S
PUBLIC LIBRARY BYELAWS
Report of the Director of Resources

Agenda Pack Page 2
2

6.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S ADMISSION
ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2020/21
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

7.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES: PROPOSED PRIMARY SCHOOL
EXPANSION (CODICOTE); SECONDARY EXPANSION IN WATFORD;
ADDITIONAL ACCOMODATION IN ST. ALBANS AND THE
APPLICATION OF S106 FUNDS
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

8.

OTHER PART I BUSINESS
Such other Part I Business which, if the Chairman agrees, is of sufficient
urgency to warrant consideration.

PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
Part II business has been notified. The Chairman will move:“That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item/s of business on the
grounds that it/they involve/s the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraph/s paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.”
1.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES: PROPOSED PRIMARY SCHOOL
EXPANSION (CODICOTE); SECONDARY EXPANSION IN WATFORD;
ADDITIONAL ACCOMODATION IN ST. ALBANS AND THE APPLICATION
OF S106 FUNDS
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

If you require further information about this agenda please contact
Stephanie Tarrant, Democratic Services, on telephone no (01992) 555481
number or email stephanie.tarrant@hertfordshire.gov.uk.
Agenda documents are also available on the internet at
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx
KATHRYN PETTITT
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

Agenda Pack Page 3
3

This page is intentionally left blank

Minutes

To: All Members of the Education,
Libraries and Localism
Cabinet Panel, Chief
Executive, Chief Officers, All
officers named for ‘actions’

From:
Legal, Democratic & Statutory Services
Ask for: Stephanie Tarrant
Ext:
25481

EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
11 DECEMBER 2018
ATTENDANCE
MEMBERS OF THE PANEL
N Bell (substituted for A K Khan), J Billing, A P Brewster, C Clapper, T L F Douris
(Chairman), M S Hearn, T R Hutchings (Vice Chairman), J R Jones, A Plancey, R G
Tindall (substituted for A F Rowlands), M A Watkin, J F Wyllie
Upon consideration of the agenda for the Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet
Panel meeting 11 December 2018 as circulated, copy annexed, conclusions were
reached and are recorded below.
Note: Declarations of interest were made at Item 4 and Item 5 of this meeting.
PART I (‘OPEN’) BUSINESS
ACTION
1.

MINUTES

1.1

The minutes (Part I and Part II) of the previous meeting held on 18
October 2018 were agreed.

2.

PUBLIC PETITION

2.1

There were no public petitions.

3.

HERTFORDSHIRE LIFESTYLE AND LEGACY PARTNERSHIP
(HLLP) – UPDATE REPORT
[Officer Contact: Nathalie Calonnec, Senior Policy Officer, Tel:
01992 555071]

3.1

The Cabinet Panel considered a report which provided an update
on the progress of the Hertfordshire Lifestyle and Legacy
Partnership (HLLP), which was established in 2014 to continue the
Olympic and Paralympic Legacy for Hertfordshire residents.

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 5

1

3.2

Members acknowledged the numerous success projects created
by the HLLP, including the successful year of cycling and year of
physical activity. Members noted that next big project would be the
2020 year of culture and noted that the year projects took place
biannually to create a bigger impact.

3.3

It was noted that Hertsmere Borough Council were supporting the
year of culture with funding officer time and working in partnership
to create initiatives. A number of districts were also developing
their own culture strategy.

3.4

Members discussed the financial implications for the County
Council and it was noted that funding was provided by individual
groups. Base funding of £22,000 had been provided by
districts/boroughs over the past two years. Officers advised that the
main cost to the County Council was in officer time. Members
advised that they would be interested in receiving a further
breakdown of funding.

3.5

Members commented on the link between the HLLP and highways
in terms of improving the cycle network. Officers advised that a
cycling officer sat on the HLLP and that work was ongoing with
regards to cycling routes.

3.6

The Panel discussed the daily mile and queried what was in place
to keep it running. Officers advised that the year of physical activity
was to have a strong legacy with initiatives continuing to be
supported. Members also noted the success of park runs and
health walks in Hertfordshire, however, it was noted that some
parish/town councils were resistive of park runs.

3.7

Members commented on the excellent ‘Fit, Fed and Read’ initiative
held at fire stations across the county, to help those students that
would not necessarily be fed in the holidays and providing them
with food and activities. The initiative was carried out across six
stations and helped 149 children. A copy of the evaluation report
was to be shared with Panel Members.

3.8

In response to a Member question around the little known HLLP
brand, officers advised that as the HLLP was made up of
representatives from all different partners there was not a specific
public facing branch of the HLLP.

Nathalie
Calonnec,
Senior Policy
Officer

Conclusion
3.9

The Panel noted and commented upon the report, as detailed
above.
2

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 6

4.

FIRST MONITORING REPORT OF HERTFORDSHIRE SKILLS
STRATEGY TO 2020
[Officer Contact: Kate Brierley, Senior Policy Officer, Corporate
Policy Team, Tel: 01992 588321]

4.1

M S Hearn declared a Declarable Interest as the Managing
Director of a company that draws down on funding from YC
Hertfordshire. M S Hearn remained in the room but did not
participate in the debate.

4.2

The Cabinet Panel reviewed a report which detailed the progress
made in implementing the Hertfordshire Skills Strategy since its
implementation in 2015 and subsequent refresh in 2017.

4.3

The Skills Strategy was developed and driven by a partnership of
the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), the Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) and Hertfordshire County Council and aimed
to help close the skills gap in Hertfordshire. Members heard that
good progress had been made to date and that the working group
were actively continuing to implement the action plan.

4.4

The Panel noted as at 5.6.2 of the report, that there had been a
decline in apprenticeships during 2016/17 and queried why this
was. Officers advised that this had been a national issue and may
have been due to the change with the apprenticeship levy and a
delay in developing new apprenticeship frameworks. Officers
advised that the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) had
only released statistics for the first two quarters on 2017/18 so the
statistics had not been updated since January 2018. It was noted
that the first half of 2017/18 showed a 15% drop in apprenticeships
for Hertfordshire, whereas the national decrease was 25%. Officers
noted that a nationwide change of expecting young people to stay
in some form of education until their 18th birthday had led to
increasingly more young people remaining in school and not
seeing an apprenticeship as a choice. It was noted that this was
being addressed with teachers and parents. Members noted that
the updated figures would be brought back to Panel as soon as
they were available.

4.5

Kate Brierley,
Senior Policy
Officer

Members heard about a Careers & Enterprise Company (CEC)
programme delivered through Herts LEP and YC Hertfordshire to
forge greater links between education providers and employers
that 97 schools and 2 further education colleges had signed up to,
with 81 having an Enterprise Adviser in place. It was noted that this
included Education Support Centres and Special Schools.
Members also discussed the take up of business mentors in
schools provided by YC Hertfordshire, funded through the Careers
& Enterprise Company (CEC).
3

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 7

4.6

The Panel commented on the information contained within EqIA
and it was noted that the Hertfordshire Adult and Family Learning
Service (HAFLs) had a number of projects to support those without
English as a first language, as well as to enhance digital skills, as
these were both considered a basic need.

4.7

Members discussed the appendices and requested that future
reports tied appendix A to B and showed which partner was the
lead for delivering each performance indicator. It was noted that
whilst each indicator had a lead, all partners were responsible for
helping to deliver to targets.

4.8

In response to a Member question on the reduction of the
Hertfordshire employee’s skills gap from 10.9% to 5%, Members
heard that the figure had been taken from the LEP Skills and
Labour Market Report and that the LEP would be asked to provide
a briefing note on this.

Kate Brierley,
Senior Policy
Officer

Conclusion
4.9

The Cabinet Panel noted the progress made in implementing the
Hertfordshire Skills Strategy.

5.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES (BISHOP’S STORTFORD
NORTH)
[Officer Contact: Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning
Tel: 01992 555865 / Simon Newland, Director of Operations
(Education) Tel: 01992 588755 / Dick Bowler, Estates Manager
Tel: 01992 556223]

5.1

J F Wyllie declared a Declarable Interest as a Bishop’s Stortford
Town Member. J F Wyllie remained in the room and participated in
the debate.

5.2

The Panel reviewed a report which provided an update on the
proposed configuration of schools to serve the Bishop’s Stortford
North development and the funding to support them.

5.3

Members were shown a presentation and acknowledged the
process to date which had led to a clear position for the County
Council to have two primary schools and a secondary school to
support the children in Bishop’s Stortford North. Members noted
that this was one of the first pieces of major public infrastructure
linked to a large scale housing development, for Hertfordshire and
it was pleasing to have now arrived at a proposed position.

5.4

In response to a Member question, officers advised that it was
likely that the 3fe primary school to the East of the development
would open in September 2020. It was noted that the planned
school to the West of the development would be developed as and
4

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 8

when additional school places were required and the funding being
provided from developers. The secondary school was most likely to
open in 2022.
5.5

The Local Member advised that they did not think that the Town
Council had any major objections to the plans set out by the
County Council. Concerns remained around improving
infrastructure and public transport. It was noted that there would be
the opportunity to embrace LTP4 and modal shift.

5.6

In response to a Member question regarding the sports facilities
(e.g. pitches) planned for the secondary school on the playing field,
Members heard that the details had not yet been established. It
was noted that there would be plenty of room for extensive
facilities, subject to funding and that specific ideas could be shared
with the development team.

5.7

Members expressed concern around the playing field for the
secondary school being the other side of the A120. Officers
advised that, subject to scheme design and approval, a private
footbridge would be installed to link the school to the playing field
and that there would be emergency vehicle access from the north
side of the A120, all carefully planned.
PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

5.8

The Panel agreed to move into Part II (‘closed’ session’).

5.9

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure
of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

5.10

Following discussion on the Part II Report and the Part II
recommendations, the Panel moved back into Part I (open session)
and agreed the Part I recommendations.
Conclusion

5.11

The Panel recommended to Cabinet that Cabinet approves:
(i)

the revision to the pattern of schools to serve the Bishop’s
Stortford North development, as outlined in paragraph 4.4 of
this report;

(ii)

the update to the agreed capital budget for the Bishop’s
5

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 9

Stortford North schools schemes, as contained in the
accompanying Part II report; and
(iii)

Forward funding of the relevant elements of the scheme due
to the timing of land sale receipts and S106 contributions.

6.

OTHER URGENT PART I BUSINESS

6.1

There was no other urgent Part I Business.
PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA

1.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES (BISHOP’S STORTFORD
NORTH)
[Officer Contact: Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning
Tel: 01992 555865 / Simon Newland, Director of Operations
(Education) Tel: 01992 588755 / Dick Bowler, Estates Manager
Tel: 01992 556223]

1.1

The decision reached on this item of business is recorded at item
5.11 above and in the separate Part II minutes.

KATHRYN PETTITT
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

CHAIRMAN

6
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 10

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 10:00AM
INTEGRATED PLAN 2019/20 - 2022/23 – EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND
LOCALISM
Joint Report of Interim Director of Resources and Director of Children’s
Services
Author(s):

Simon Newland, Operations Director – Education
Taryn Pearson-Rose, Assistant Director, Customer
Engagement & Libraries

Executive Members: Terry Douris (Executive Member for Education,
Libraries and Localism)
Ralph Sangster (Executive Member for Resources and
Performance)
1.

Purpose of the Report

1.1

To highlight the areas of the Integrated Plan which relate to the
Education, Libraries and Localism portfolio in order for Panel to
consider these and provide comment.

1.2

Members are asked to bring the following reports to the meeting, which
have been circulated separately to all Members of the County Council:
‘Public Engagement and Consultation on the 2019/20 –
2022/2023 Integrated Plan’ (circulated as Item 4(i) for the
Cabinet meeting of 21 January 2019); and
‘DRAFT INTEGRATED PLAN 2019/20 – 2022/23
(incorporating the Strategic Direction and Financial
Consequences and the Treasury Management Strategy)’
(circulated as Item 4(ii) for the Cabinet meeting of 21 January
2019).

2.
2.1

Summary
The Integrated Plan brings together the financial impact of service
plans and the available funding to resource these, over the next four
years. Strategic Direction summaries have been produced for each
Portfolio, which set out the future direction of services in the context of
achieving substantial further savings. These have been informed by
comparative benchmarking, both through published data and informal
networks with other comparable authorities, to identify areas of
potential efficiency gains.

Agenda
1 Pack Page 11

3

2.2

Services have identified savings, in the context of the continuing
budgetary pressures and reduction in available funding. Savings
requiring a policy change have been taken through Panels for Cabinet
decisions throughout 2018, and substantial efficiency savings have
been identified. Savings have also been achieved by extending the
reduction of general non-pay inflation to zero. Whilst this is mitigated
to some extent by excluding exceptional inflation areas it will require
services to manage the impact during 2019/20.
Provisional Settlement

2.3

The Government announced the provisional Local Government
Finance Settlement for 2019/20 on 13 December 2018, following the
announcement of overall spending and funding plans in the
Chancellor's Autumn Budget 2018 on 29 October.

2.4

This was the final year of the Government’s four-year settlement offer
for authorities, including Hertfordshire, who submitted an Efficiency
Plan. A number of the reductions to funding were therefore known in
advance when preparing the proposed budget, including an
anticipated reduction of £23.7m in Government grants between
2018/19 and 2019/20.

2.5

This is also the final year of the Adult Social Care precept; for the
current year, no further increase is permitted and the precept flexibility
has been fully taken up in previous years.

2.6

The Autumn Budget gave early notification of some additional funding,
notably the Social Care Grant (£7.1m) and “Winter Pressures” grant
(£4.1m). It should be noted that this funding is one-off and that, in the
absence of the planned green paper on Health and Social care, it is
not clear how government intends the cost pressure arising from the
ongoing pressure in social care demand to be funded.

2.7

The Provisional Settlement subsequently announced the removal of
negative RSG using foregone business rates, with the Total
Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA), the Government’s calculation
of need to be met by (previously) Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and
business rates, still reducing by 12.6% between 2018/19 and 2019/20.

2.8

Notably, all funding announcements were for one year only,
compounding uncertainty on the level of funding to be expected after
April 2020.

2.9

Additionally, the Settlement confirmed referendum threshold for
Council tax increases to be used for 2019/20 as 2.99% (as previously
notified last year).

2.10

The Provisional Settlement also included details of further authorities
selected to pilot 75% business rates retention. MHCLG had approved
10 authorities to pilot the scheme last year, and Hertfordshire’s

Agenda Pack Page
12
2

application for 2019/20 to be part of the second phase of the pilot was
successful.
2.11

Furthermore, the Secretary of State confirmed timelines for changes to
Business Rates Retention, and the implementation of a Fair Funding
Review that will re-assess funding need across all authorities. These
are expected to be introduced in 2020/21, when the current four year
settlement ends. Whilst there may be some transitional protection,
these changes may have a significant impact on funding from 2020/21.
Revenue Budget 2019/20

2.12

The final position will not be confirmed until the Final Settlement
(expected early February) and other late grant announcements, and
until figures are received from Districts for council tax base and
collection fund balances, due to be provided by end January.

2.13

The future position remains challenging: even with the identified savings
and continued year on year increases in council tax and the social care
precept, current projections of pressures and funding require a further
£20.2 million saving to be identified in 2020/21, rising to £44.7 million by
2022/23.

2.14

To help meet these challenging targets, work is in hand to progress
further savings during 2019, for implementation for 2020/21 or sooner
where achievable. It is recognised that savings require significant lead
times, especially where there is service redesign or consultation.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

The Panel is invited to comment to Cabinet on the proposals relating to
the Integrated Plan in respect of Education, Libraries and Localism.

3.2

The Panel is also asked to identify any issues that it feels that the
Cabinet should consider in finalising the Integrated Plan proposals.

4.

Background

4.1

The integrated plan comprises:
 an overview of the proposed revenue budget and capital
programme, including a review of the budget estimates and
adequacy of reserves (Part A);
 Strategic Direction and Financial Consequences - by portfolio
(Part B);
 the Treasury Management Strategy (Part C)
 the Capital and Asset Management Strategy and Invest to
Transform (part D);
 the Insurance and Risk Strategy (part E)
 an Equalities Impact Assessment (Part F); and
 other technical information and finance summaries (Part G)

Agenda
3 Pack Page 13

4.2

Part B of the Integrated Plan has separate sections for each Portfolio.
These contain the strategic direction summary (for Education, Libraries
and Localism portfolio, on p103 of Integrated Plan Pack Part B);
revenue budget information including a schedule of Key Budget
Movements that sets out details of financial pressures and savings
(p115); and a summary of the proposed Capital Programme (p120).

4.3

Key issues for this portfolio include:

4.3.1 The report identifies the key pressures for increased expenditure within
the portfolio, in particular transport from home to school of children with
special educational needs and disabilities. Efficiency savings are
identified partially to offset these.
4.3.2 Page 110 onwards of the report identifies a number of key
projects/programmes within the portfolio. These include actions to
mitigate future expenditure pressures within SEND transport, but also
continuing priorities in terms of standards of education and provision of
school places. Capital expenditure of £252m over the next 4 years will
be required to meet this demand; whilst the County Council may have
to “cash-flow” some projects, this expenditure in due course will be fully
offset by capital grant from DfE, Section 106 contributions from
developers and capital receipts which are a consequence of particular
schemes.
4.3.3 The report identifies how the procurement of an external provider for
Hertfordshire Library Services within 2019/20 should make savings of
up to £500,000 per annum and deal with the continuing pressures on
traditional library income. Securing an external provider for delivering
Library Services would be on the basis that saving are achieved
without compromising the quality of services and delivery of the
Inspiring Library Strategy.
4.3.4 Page 120 includes a new capital bid for an Archive and Heritage
Centre. The proposed building would solve the current challenges
around future archive storage capacity for the service, which is critical
to continue to meet statutory duties and Archive Accreditation.
4.4

The key issues for this portfolio for DSG-funded activity include:

4.4.1 Supporting all schools to mitigate the pressures resulting from the
continuing reduction in school funding in inflation-adjusted terms.
4.4.2 Ensuring that Maintained Schools in particular continue to plan and
respond to budget pressures without moving into deficit.
4.4.3 Supporting and challenging schools to continue to improve attainment,
in particular for disadvantaged children

Agenda Pack Page
14
4

4.4.4 Delivering the planned increase in Special School and college places
from September 2019 and planning future provision
4.4.5 Addressing growing pressures on places and funding for Educational
Support Centres and in support of children with SEND in mainstream
schools
5.

Equality Implications

5.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that
they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the
equalities implications of the decision that they are taking.

5.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

5.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity;
race; religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

5.4

Part F of the Integrated Plan provides an equality impact assessment
of the savings included within the plan and how these are intended to
be mitigated by the service.

Agenda
5 Pack Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 10:00AM

4

STANDARDS AND QUALITY IN HERTFORDSHIRE SCHOOLS
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Author:

Simon Newland, Operations Director, Education

Executive Member:

Terry Douris – Education, Libraries & Localism

1.

Purpose of report
To provide Members with an overview of standards and quality in
Hertfordshire schools, Children’s Centres and Early Years providers for the
academic year September 2017 to July 2018. The report presents evidence
from inspections, test and examination results and other assessments.

2.

Summary

2.1

In the academic year 2017/18, Hertfordshire results indicate sustained high
standards across all key stages in comparison with national and statistical
neighbour outcomes. Performance for the key attainment indicators remains in
the top quintile for all local authorities in England for all secondary school
indicators except one and in the second quintile for Key Stage 1 and 2
indicators.

2.2

For some vulnerable groups, the gap between their achievement and that of
all children is closing but for many it remains very wide, particularly for
disadvantaged children, those on free school meals (FSM) and Children
Looked After (CLA). In 2018, the attainment of disadvantaged groups in
Hertfordshire is above the attainment of similar groups nationally at Key stage
4. In Early Years, Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 the attainment of
disadvantaged groups in Hertfordshire in 2018 is below the attainment of
similar groups nationally. In most cases (except Key Stage 4) the gap between
these groups and those deemed not to be disadvantaged has widened in
Hertfordshire. Nationally, the gap between disadvantaged groups and those
deemed not to be disadvantaged has widened at Key Stage 1 and Key Stage
4 and narrowed at Key Stage 2.

2.3

At the end of the academic year 2017/18, a higher percentage of Hertfordshire
schools were judged good and outstanding in their Ofsted inspections than the
national figure. The percentage of schools judged outstanding, was also
higher than the national proportion. The percentage of Hertfordshire schools in
an Ofsted inadequate category was lower than the national figure.

Agenda Pack Page 17

1

3.

Recommendation

3.1

The Panel is invited to note and comment upon the report.

4.

Background

4.1

The creation of Herts for Learning Ltd in September 2013 put in place robust
arrangements to ensure that the County Council’s statutory duties for school
improvement were effectively fulfilled, whilst retaining provision for nonstatutory support to schools and settings through a traded offer.

4.2

As Herts for Learning Ltd is owned by Hertfordshire schools and the Local
Authority, the company embodies a shared moral purpose and passion for
continued improvement in outcomes for all Hertfordshire children and young
people.

4.3

In 2013, Ofsted introduced an inspection framework for local authorities to
evaluate their arrangements for fulfilling their statutory duties to promote high
standards in schools and other providers so that children and young people
achieve well and fulfil their potential (as defined by section 13A of the
Education Act 1996). This includes support for schools causing concern as set
out in Part 4 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This framework was
revised in September 2015, however changes made were minimal.

4.4

Not all local authorities will be inspected to a regular cycle or interval. Where
inspections of schools or other providers raise concerns about the
effectiveness of a local authority’s education functions or where Ofsted
become aware of other concerns, an inspection may be carried out. Ofsted
has also stated that they may inspect local authorities to gather evidence of
good practice.

4.5

A local authority may be inspected where one or more of the following apply:








where the proportion of children who attend a good or outstanding school
is lower than that found nationally,
where there is a higher than average number of schools in an Ofsted
formal category of concern and/or there are indicators that these schools
are not improving rapidly enough,
where there is a higher than average proportion of schools that have not
been judged to be good by Ofsted,
where attainment levels across the local authority are lower than that found
nationally and/or where the trend of improvement is weak,
where rates of progress, relative to starting points, are lower than that
found nationally and/or where the trend of improvement is weak,
where pupils eligible for the pupil premium achieve less well than pupils not
eligible for the pupil premium nationally,
where qualifying complaints to Ofsted about schools in a local authority are
a matter of concern,

Agenda Pack Page 18

2



where the Secretary of State requires an inspection of local authority
school improvement functions.

4.6

This report includes quintile positions which compare Hertfordshire outcome
data to all other local authorities (between 148 to 151 in total, depending on
key stage, as some local authorities do not have nursery schools or education
support centres). Schools are now measured in this way on Ofsted’s school
data dashboard giving schools, governors and the public a clear indication of
benchmarked performance.

4.7

Hertfordshire’s performance for many indicators places the authority in the 1st
and 2nd quintiles (the top 20% or 40% of all local authorities). The 3rd quintile
shows performance at approximately the same as the national average. Those
areas where performance is currently in the 4th or 5th quintile are being
addressed in Hertfordshire as improvement priorities by Herts for Learning Ltd.
For Children Looked After, this is in conjunction with the Hertfordshire Virtual
School for Children Looked After.

4.8

With effect from June 2018 Ofsted are using a new methodology – if there is a
direct 1:1 link between a school with no current judgement and a predecessor
school then the last judgement of the predecessor school is now ‘carried over’
to the new school. The majority of the schools involved are those where the
predecessor school was in a category, so the effect has been to lower the
percentage of good/outstanding schools across the board. As a result of this
change June 2018 data onwards is not comparable with previous months.

4.9

The analysis shown in this report for Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 is based
upon provisional outcomes provided by the DfE. At the time of writing the
report validated data was not available.

5.

Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS)

5.1

The EYFS Profile was introduced in 2013 along with a new indicator
measuring a ‘Good Level of Development’ (GLD). The profile is carried out in
the final term of the year in which a child reaches age five. The profile and
revised EYFS simplified the learning and development requirements
by reducing the number of early learning goals from 69 to 17 and placing a
stronger emphasis on the three prime areas which are most essential for
children’s healthy development: communication and language; physical; and
personal, social and emotional development. From 2013, children are defined
as having reached a Good Level of Development at the end of the EYFS if
they achieve at least the expected level in the early learning goals relating to
personal, social and emotional development; physical development;
communication and language and mathematics and literacy.

5.2

In 2018, 72.7% of children achieved a Good Level of Development, an
improvement of 0.5 percentage points (ppts) from 2017 and placing
Hertfordshire in the second quintile when ranked against all other local
authorities. Hertfordshire is ranked fifth out of the Eastern region local
authorities, behind Thurrock, Southend, Essex and Central Bedfordshire. The

Agenda Pack Page 19

3

attainment gap between the lowest attaining 20% of young children and the
mean was 31.9%, no change from 2017 and 0.1ppts higher than the national
gap.
5.3

Scrutiny of local assessment data has informed the deployment of resources
to target areas in the county where fewer children reached a good level of
development in 2016 and 2017. As a result, 74% of the schools that engaged
in this programme improved the proportion of children reaching a good level of
development and the percentage of good and outstanding early years
registered providers increased. Programmes of support and challenge will
continue to be delivered to private, voluntary and independent (PVI) providers
offering free early education places for disadvantaged two year olds and free
early education entitlement to three and four years olds. From the 1st April
2019 universal support will more widely disseminate messages and advice
that has improved practice in the early years workforce. This will have
continued foci on strategies to identify children at risk of not reaching expected
levels of attainment at age five years old, in order to narrow the inequality gap
between the lowest attaining 20% and their peers.

5.4

HfL Early Years team has sought to focus head teachers on monitoring the
progress and attainment of children from the earliest opportunity. Initiatives
that promote early reading skills, robust assessment practice and strategies
for early identification and intervention for children at risk of delay have had
positive impact on outcomes at the end of the EYFS. Schools with the lowest
proportion of children reaching a good level of development are being closely
monitored and settings with high proportions of disadvantaged and vulnerable
children are offered pertinent support to improve practice and raise standards.

Agenda Pack Page 20

4

6.

Phonics screening check and Key Stage 1

6.1

The phonics screening check was introduced in 2012. It is a statutory
assessment for all children in year 1 (typically aged 6) to check whether they
have reached the expected standard in phonic decoding. 84.3% of
Hertfordshire year 1 pupils met the expected standard in 2018, compared with
83.5% in 2017 and 82.6% in 2016. Nationally 82.5% of year 1 pupils met the
expected standard in 2018, compared with 81.4% in 2017 and 80.5% in 2016.
Hertfordshire is in the second quintile for the phonics screening check.
Hertfordshire is ranked first out of the Eastern region local authorities.

6.2

At key stage 1, the percentage of pupils achieving the expected standard in
Hertfordshire was above national and statistical neighbours for all three
indicators: reading, writing and mathematics. Hertfordshire’s performance was
above national by 2.7ppts for reading, 2.3ppts for writing and 1.9ppts for
mathematics. Hertfordshire’s performance was above statistical neighbours by
0.3ppts for reading, 1.1ppts for writing and 0.7ppts for mathematics.
Hertfordshire is in the second quintile for reading, writing and mathematics.
Hertfordshire is ranked second amongst Eastern region local authorities for
reading and writing attainment, behind Central Bedfordshire. Hertfordshire is
ranked third amongst Eastern region local authorities for mathematics
attainment, behind Central Bedfordshire and Thurrock.

Agenda Pack Page 21

5

7.

Key Stage 2

7.1

At key stage 2, the percentage of pupils achieving the expected standard in
combined reading, writing and mathematics in Hertfordshire was 2.1ppts
above national, placing Hertfordshire in the second quintile. Hertfordshire is
ranked second amongst Eastern region local authorities for this measure,
behind Southend.

Agenda Pack Page 22

6

7.2

Average progress scores are now used to indicate whether a cohort has made
more or less progress between key stages 1 and 2 than other pupils nationally
with similar starting points. A positive score indicates higher progress than
other pupils nationally and a negative score indicates lower progress than
other pupils nationally.

7.3

In 2017 average progress in reading in Hertfordshire was higher than national
whilst average progress in writing and mathematics was lower than national.
This data places Hertfordshire in the 3rd quintile for reading progress, the 4th
quintile for mathematics progress and the 5th quintile for writing progress.
Hertfordshire is ranked second amongst Eastern region local authorities for
reading progress (behind Southend), fifth for writing and mathematics
progress (behind Thurrock, Southend, Essex and Luton).

Agenda Pack Page 23

7

7.4

In 2018, floor standards for primary schools required at least 65% of pupils to
reach ‘at least the expected standard’ in all subjects (i.e. reading, writing and
mathematics) and to meet minimum progress measures (set by the DfE)
across key stage 2 from the end of key stage 1 finishing points in reading,
writing and mathematics. Eight Hertfordshire primary schools are below the
floor standard in 2018, compared to five in 2017. This figure represents 2.4%
of Hertfordshire primary schools, lower than the national figure of 2.6%. All
schools below floor will receive at least one additional visit from their HIP
specifically looking at their 2019 predictions, with a view to securing
improvements in outcomes. Additional teaching and learning support will also
be provided as necessary.

7.5

In 2015 the DfE introduced a definition of ‘Coasting schools’. Coasting schools
are those which are deemed by the DfE to be performing below a reasonable
level of attainment and progress (as shown in three years of data). 17
Hertfordshire primary schools are deemed as coasting in 2018, an increase
from 10 in 2017. This figure represents 5.1% of Hertfordshire primary schools,
higher than the national figure of 4.6%.

8.

Key Stage 4

8.1

Hertfordshire is in the top quintile for five of the six key secondary indicators.

Agenda Pack Page 24

8

8.2

Attainment 8 measures the average achievement of pupils in up to 8
qualifications including English (double weighted if the combined English
qualification, or both language and literature are taken), maths (double
weighted), three further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate
(EBacc) and three further qualifications that can be GCSE qualifications
(including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE qualifications on the DfE
approved list.

8.3

The average Attainment 8 score in Hertfordshire was 51.4, higher than the
comparable figures nationally and for statistical neighbours of 46.5 and 49.1
respectively. Hertfordshire is ranked 16th out of all local authorities, in the 1st
quintile. Hertfordshire is ranked second out of the Eastern region local
authorities, behind Southend.

8.4

In the standard pass in English and mathematics measure (grade 4), the
percentage attaining this benchmark was 73.1%, compared to the national
figure of 64.2% and 69.1% for statistical neighbours. Hertfordshire is ranked
17th out of 150 LAs on this measure, and is in the first quintile. Hertfordshire is
ranked first out of the Eastern region local authorities on this measure.

8.5

For the good pass in English and mathematics measure (grade 5), the
percentage attaining this benchmark was 52.9%, compared to the national
figure of 43.2% and 48.7% for statistical neighbours. Hertfordshire is ranked

Agenda Pack Page 25

9

17th out of 150 LAs on this measure, and is in the first quintile. Hertfordshire is
ranked second out of the Eastern region local authorities behind Southend.

8.6

Progress 8 aims to capture the progress pupils make from the end of key
stage 2 to the end of key stage 4. It compares pupils’ achievement – their
Attainment 8 score – with the average Attainment 8 score of all pupils
nationally who had a similar starting point (or ‘prior attainment’), calculated
using assessment results from the end of primary school. Progress 8 is a
relative measure; therefore the national average Progress 8 score for
mainstream schools is zero. When including pupils at special schools the
national average is not zero as Progress 8 scores for special schools are
calculated using Attainment 8 estimates based on pupils in mainstream
schools.

8.7

The average Progress 8 score in Hertfordshire was 0.19, higher than the
comparable figures nationally and for statistical neighbours of -0.03 and 0.06
respectively. Hertfordshire is ranked 25th out of all local authorities and is in
the first quintile. Hertfordshire is ranked first out of the Eastern region local
authorities.

8.8

The English Baccalaureate was introduced as a performance measure in
2010. It is not a qualification in itself; the measure recognises where pupils

Agenda Pack Page 26

10

have secured a grade 5 or better across a core group of academic subjects –
English, mathematics, history or geography, two sciences and a language.
8.9

In 2018, 46.7% of pupils in Hertfordshire entered the EBacc, 8.2ppts higher
than the national figure and 7.8ppts higher than statistical neighbours.
Hertfordshire is ranked first out of the Eastern region local authorities.

8.10

In 2018, the DfE introduced a new headline performance measure – the
EBacc average point score per pupil. EBacc APS measures pupils’ point
scores across the five pillars of the EBacc. This ensures the attainment of all
pupils is recognised, encouraging schools to enter pupils of all attainment
levels. In Hertfordshire the EBacc APS in 2018 was 4.59, above the national
figure of 4.04 and the statistical neighbour figure of 4.31. Hertfordshire is
ranked 16th out of all local authorities, in the 1st quintile. Hertfordshire is ranked
second out of the Eastern region local authorities, behind Southend.

8.11

To be below the floor standard in 2018 secondary schools must have a
Progress 8 score below -0.5. Based upon provisional data, three Hertfordshire
maintained secondary schools and one academy are below floor standard this
year.

8.12

In 2015 the DfE introduced a definition of ‘Coasting schools’. Coasting schools
are those which are deemed by the DfE to be performing below a reasonable

Agenda Pack Page 27

11

level of attainment and progress (as shown in three years of data). In 2018,
the threshold at key stage 4 was a Progress 8 score below -0.25. Based upon
provisional data, three Hertfordshire maintained secondary schools, two
academies and one university technical college are deemed to be coasting in
2018.
9.

Key stage 5

9.1

Average attainment is reported separately for students studying different types
of qualifications - A level, academic, tech level (level 3 qualifications for
students wishing to specialise in a technical occupation or occupational group)
and applied general (level 3 qualifications that provide broad study of a
vocational subject area).

9.2

At key stage 5, grades for A level and equivalent qualifications are converted
into point scores. In 2018 the average point score per examination entry for A
level students in Hertfordshire schools was 34.5, compared to 32.2 nationally
(both equivalent to a C+ grade). The score places Hertfordshire 23rd out of all
LAs, in the 1st quintile. Hertfordshire is ranked second out of the Eastern
region local authorities behind Southend.

9.3

The average point score per examination entry for academic students was
34.7 compared to 32.3 nationally.

Agenda Pack Page 28

12

9.4

Smaller numbers of students in Hertfordshire complete tech level and applied
general programmes, so outcomes are subject to greater variation from one
year to the next. The average point score per examination entry for tech level
students was 33.8 compared to 31.4 nationally.

9.5

The average point score per examination entry for applied general students
was 28.8 compared to 29.0 nationally.

10.

Performance of pupils in receipt of free school meals (FSM)

10.1

There are currently two measures used by the DfE to measure performance of
children from lower socio-economic groups:
 FSM pupils - pupils eligible for and receiving free school meals in the year
of the test/assessment
 FSM Ever 6 pupils - pupils eligible for and receiving a free school meal at
any time over the previous six years

10.2

The term ‘disadvantaged pupils’ refers to pupils who are:
 Eligible for free schools meals (FSM) in the last six years; or
 Looked after continuously for 1 day or more; or
 Adopted from care on or after 30 December 2005, or left in care under a
special guardianship order or a residence order

Agenda Pack Page 29

13

10.3

Disadvantaged pupils are supported by Government funding called the Pupil
Premium Grant. Children who are looked after in the care of the Local
Authority receive an additional amount of funding called Pupil Premium Plus.
Children in the early years in receipt of additional funding receive a smaller
amount called the Early Years Pupil Premium.

10.4

Since January 2015, children from service families are not included in the
definition of disadvantaged pupils in the DfE performance tables. They do
however receive an element of the Pupil Premium Grant.

10.5

At the early years foundation stage in 2018 the gap between FSM and non
FSM children in Hertfordshire was 23.2ppts, an increase on the 2017 figure of
21.0ppts. This gap is 5.3ppts wider than national, placing Hertfordshire in the
5th quintile. 51.8% of FSM children in Hertfordshire achieved a Good Level of
Development compared to 56.5% nationally.

10.5

At key stage 1 in 2017 the gap between FSM and non FSM children in
Hertfordshire was larger than national in reading, writing and mathematics, but
lower than our statistical neighbours for all three indicators. The Hertfordshire
gaps were 3.4ppts, 4.7ppts and 4.1ppts greater than the national gaps in
reading, writing and mathematics respectively. Hertfordshire is placed in the
4th quintile for reading and mathematics and the 5th quintile for writing.

Agenda Pack Page 30

14

10.6

The FSM gap for pupils in Hertfordshire at key stage 2 was 27.5ppts and
Hertfordshire is placed in the 5th quintile. This gap is larger than national but
lower than our statistical neighbours. However 41.4% of Hertfordshire FSM
pupils achieved the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics
compared to 46.1% of FSM pupils nationally. The focus on improving
performance for this group of pupils will continue to be a priority in 2018/19.

Agenda Pack Page 31

15

10.7

In 2018, at Key Stage 4, the gap between the attainment of FSM pupils
attaining a standard pass at GCSE in English and mathematics (grade 4) and
non FSM pupils was 32.3ppts in Hertfordshire. The comparable figure
nationally was 26.6ppts. The gap in Hertfordshire has reduced from 34.6ppts
in 2017. For the strong pass in English and mathematics measure (grade 5),
the gap between the attainment of FSM pupils and non FSM pupils was
32.2ppts in Hertfordshire, compared to 25.0ppts nationally. The gap in
Hertfordshire has increased from 31.2ppts in 2017. Comparable figures for
statistical neighbours are not available in the provisional data set.

11.

Performance of Children Looked After

11.1

The Department for Education has now introduced a requirement that National
Consortium for Examination Results (NCER) and its member authorities shall
not reproduce data related to Children Looked After within any publication
before the Statistical First Release due at the end of March 2018.

12.

District variation

12.1

In the Early Years Foundation Stage, the gap between the highest and lowest
performing districts for the percentage of children reaching a Good Level of
Development has decreased by 0.3ppts from 8.7ppts in 2017 to 8.4ppts in
2018. Watford was the lowest performing district at this key stage and Three

Agenda Pack Page 32

16

Rivers was the highest. The most improved districts in 2017 were Three
Rivers, Stevenage and Hertsmere.

12.2

At Key Stage 1 the gap between the highest and lowest performing districts for
the percentage of children achieving the expected standard has decreased by
1.8ppts in reading, by 3.9ppts in writing and by 1.8ppts in mathematics. In
reading and writing all districts achieved an expected standard above the
national average; in mathematics all districts except Broxbourne and North
Herts achieved an expected standard above the national average. For
mathematics, Broxbourne was below the national average by 0.6ppts and
North Herts was below the national average by 0.7ppts. St Albans was the
highest performing district for reading and mathematics, Three Rivers was the
highest performing district for writing.

Agenda Pack Page 33

17

12.3

At Key Stage 2 the gap between the highest and lowest performing districts for
the percentage of children achieving the expected standard in reading, writing
and mathematics has increased by 8.3ppts. Four districts achieved an
expected standard below the national average: Broxbourne, North Herts,
Stevenage and Welwyn Hatfield. St Albans was the highest performing district.

12.4

At Key Stage 4 provisional data shows that the gap between the highest and
lowest performing districts for the percentage of pupils attaining a standard

Agenda Pack Page 34

18

pass at GCSE in English and mathematics (grade 4) was 18.6ppts, 7.6ppts
lower than in 2017. All districts except Stevenage achieved a level above the
national average. St Albans was the highest performing district.

. 12.5 For the strong pass in English and mathematics measure (grade 5), the gap
between the highest and lowest performing districts was 24.2ppts, 2.3ppts
lower than in 2017. All districts except Broxbourne, Stevenage and Welwyn
Hatfield achieved a level above the national average. St Albans was the
highest performing district.

13.

School quality – based on Hertfordshire schools’ most recent Ofsted
inspections

13.1

At the end of the academic year, 95.3% of all Early Years providers were
judged good or outstanding. This was above the national figure by 0.8ppts and
1.6ppts higher than the comparable figure for 2017. If childminders are
excluded from the analysis 95.5% of providers were judged good or
outstanding, 0.5ppts higher than the national figure and 0.4ppts higher than
that for statistical neighbours.

Agenda Pack Page 35

19

13.2

Of Hertfordshire’s 82 Children’s Centres, 61 had been inspected and reports
published by the end of August 2015, when the inspection programme was
paused. The percentage of centres judged good or outstanding was 75.4%,
9.5ppts above the national average of 65.9% and 14.4ppts above the average
of our statistical neighbours (61%).

13.3

At the end of the academic year 2017/18, the percentage of all schools judged
good or outstanding, the recognised benchmark, was 87.9%, higher than the
national figure of 85.6%. At the end of August 2018 Hertfordshire was ranked
56th in comparison to other LAs and is in the 2nd quintile. The percentage of all
Hertfordshire schools judged outstanding by Ofsted at their most recent
inspection remained higher than the national proportion at 24.7% (national
20.6%).

13.4

The percentage of schools judged requiring improvement was lower than the
national figure at all phases (9.1%, national 10.8%). In Hertfordshire 3.02% of
all schools were in an Ofsted inadequate category which is below the national
figure of 3.63%.

13.5

The picture varies by phase with a higher percentage of nursery schools
achieving a good or outstanding grading which reflects the national picture. At
the end of the academic year 2017/18, Hertfordshire was slightly above the

Agenda Pack Page 36

20

national figure for nursery schools with every Hertfordshire nursery school
judged good or better.
13.6

For primary schools Hertfordshire was above both the national (87.0%) and
statistical neighbour (87.7%) averages at 89.0%. For secondary schools
Hertfordshire was significantly above national (75.4%) but below statistical
neighbour (82.3%) figures at 80.5%.

13.7

The percentage of Hertfordshire special schools judged good or outstanding
was 88.0%, 3.9ppts lower than the national figure. The percentage of
Education Support Centres which were graded good or outstanding was
87.5%, 5.5ppts higher than the national percentage. However the small
numbers in each of these school groups means that the outcome of just one
inspection makes a significant difference to the overall percentage.

13.8

There is a variation in quality amongst districts in Ofsted outcomes as there is
in attainment. The gap between the highest and lowest performing district for
the percentage of all schools judged good and outstanding at their latest
inspection at 31 August 2018 was 18.7ppts (not comparable with prior years
due to the change in Ofsted methodology outlined in 4.8 above). The lowest
performing district at the end of August 2018 was Broxbourne, where 78.6% of
all schools were good and outstanding. The highest performing district was
Three Rivers, where 97.2% of all schools were good and outstanding.

14.

School quality – Ofsted inspections during the academic year 2017/18

14.1

From September 2015, a new Ofsted framework was introduced known as the
“Common Inspection Framework”. The expectations of schools are higher and
inspectors are required to focus more intensively on the quality of teaching
and learning. There has also been the introduction of short inspections of good
schools which are for one day only. Ofsted no longer routinely inspects
outstanding schools and identifies schools for inspection through regular risk
assessments based on performance. As a result the sample inspected each
year is not representative of all schools.

14.2

During the academic year 2017/18, 180 Hertfordshire schools were selected
by Ofsted to receive section 5 inspections or short section 8 inspections. The
proportion of schools judged outstanding was 8.3% (15 schools), good 75.6%
(136 schools), requiring improvement 12.8% (23 schools) and 3.3% (6
schools) judged inadequate. A higher proportion of all schools inspected were
judged as good or outstanding than in the previous year, 83.9% up from
77.9% in 2016/17 (102 schools), whereas the national figure for this measure
remained steady at 53%.

14.3

The proportion of secondary schools judged good or outstanding in
Hertfordshire (68%) increased by 1ppt in 2017/18 from 67% in 2016/2017; the
proportion of primary/nursery schools judged good or outstanding increased
by 8ppts from 79% to 87% over the same period.

Agenda Pack Page 37

21

14.4

Nine of the eleven special schools and four of the five Education Support
Centres (ESC) inspected in 2017/18 were judged to be outstanding or good.

14.5

Two maintained secondary schools, one maintained special school and one
maintained ESC were judged inadequate in 2017/18. They will be expected to
become sponsored academies and will no longer be maintained by the County
Council. Two secondary academies were judged inadequate in 2017/18, the
Regional Schools’ Commissioner (RSC) will endeavour to broker new
sponsors for those schools.

14.6

Of the schools which were inspected, 87% improved or remained at the same
grade (primary/nursery 88%, secondary 83%, special 82%, ESC 80%). This is
an increase from the previous year when 81% of schools improved or
remained at the same grade.

14.7

Ten Hertfordshire schools previously judged requiring improvement (RI) were
re-inspected in 2017/18. 40% of these schools improved to good or
outstanding. This is in comparison to the national figure of 61% and the
statistical neighbour figure of 67%.

Agenda Pack Page 38

22

15.

Progress in priorities identified for 2017/18

15.1

Progress was not achieved in the areas identified for improvement in 2017/18:
(i)

Increase the number of good or better schools or settings as judged by
Ofsted,

(ii)

Close the gap for vulnerable groups whilst maintaining at least
expected progress for all,

15.2

A lower number of schools and settings are judged by Ofsted to be good or
outstanding.

15.3

Work will continue with those schools currently judged as requiring
improvement to support them to become good. Inadequate schools will be
supported during their transition to become sponsored academies. Support will
be offered to good and outstanding schools to retain/improve their judgement
at their next inspection.

15.4

The biggest challenge for Hertfordshire is to improve the educational
performance of disadvantaged children. The gap between children receiving
free school meals and other Hertfordshire children is increasing at Key Stage
1; at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 the gaps are reducing but not at a fast
enough rate. The gaps remain larger than national at all key stages. The focus
on improving performance for disadvantaged pupils will continue to be
strengthened in 2018/19.

16.

Priorities for 2018/19

16.1

Following the review of 2017/18 performance, the priorities identified for
2018/19 are as stated in priorities (i) and (ii) of Hertfordshire’s Strategy for
School Improvement 2014-17, with priority (iii) (eliminating discrepancies at
district level) incorporated into all methodologies:

Agenda Pack Page 39

23

(i)

a) Increase the number of good or better schools and settings, as
judged by Ofsted, through section 5 inspections
b) Increase the number of schools who receive a section 8 inspection
letter indicating that they are well on the way to outstanding

(ii)
16.2

Increase the pace of closing the gap for disadvantaged and vulnerable
groups

Officers are working closely with the Herts for Learning Ltd executive team on
their 2018/19 improvement plan. Strategies include:
Increase impact of Hertfordshire Improvement Partners (HIPs)/School
Effectiveness Advisers (SEAs) working with maintained schools by
ensuring that:
 visits are timely and contact is maintained between visits
 reports are sharp and well quality assured and good practice shared
 a culture of honest and direct feedback is fostered: with Heads,
governors and back to line managers at HfL
 robust and honest conversations are routine around RAYG rating and
that HIPs/SEAs apply criteria confidently and consistently
 capacity is sufficient in HIP/SEA teams to cover for absences
 they consistently role model the highest expectations of the attainment
and progress of all, use language of Growth Mindset relentlessly and
challenge fixed mindset attitudes when they encounter them
 communication between all school improvement teams is strong at all
times
 they have regular and developmental line management and training
 they are aware of the full range of HfL programmes and resources and
publicise materials/support effectively
 they tailor their support to make it bespoke to the school and its
development needs
 they are adept at getting reluctant engagers on-board
 they are skilled-up on the implications of the new Ofsted framework
Ensure that HIPs/SEAs have razor-sharp insight into the state of their
maintained schools by:
 fashioning the visits to achieve the optimal balance of time in class, on
learning walks, conducting book looks, hearing pupil and staff voice,
examining data and meeting with senior leadership team/head
teacher/Chair of Governors
 collecting predictive outcomes data
 ensuring robust and regular moderation and standardisation
 analysing summative outcomes data more speedily in summer
Ensure maintained schools on cusp are ready to convert through:
 impactful support through Keys To Success process
 smart and timely use of Intervention Fund and other financial support

Agenda Pack Page 40

24




developing impactful links between education services and governance
services to improve robustness of leadership of schools
thorough readiness for Ofsted checks: single central record, website,
self-evaluation form etc.

Ensure great leadership of our maintained schools through:
 Phase Education Director involvement in all head teacher appointments
– careful vetting and screening
 high quality training of new heads
 carefully chosen professional partners and smart partnering
 continual refinement and improvement of leadership development
programmes: middle and senior leaders, Exec Heads etc.
 leadership support for new Ofsted framework, including curriculum
symposium
Address the Pupil Premium gaps and barriers smartly by:
 auditing schools and settings across the county to identify the specific
issues in particular districts, settings and types of schools
 using the findings to support leaders of maintained schools to identify
specific strategies that will tackle and overcome particular barriers
 providing external stimulus through speakers and reading at
conferences and updates, annual Closing the Gap conference etc.
 supporting the writing and dissemination of case studies of impactful
practice
Increase impact of HIPs/SEAs working with maintained schools by:
 training more to conduct Pupil Premium reviews
 supporting them to assist school leaders to set audacious goals and
design effective plans for reaching these goals
 ensuring they support the implementation of high quality teaching and
smart interventions (with pupils and parents)
 using brokerage grants to focus on Pupil Premium gaps in schools with
biggest gaps/least secure practice
 targeting maintained schools with biggest gaps to engage in annual
programmes
Share good practice more effectively by:
 facilitating, supporting the establishment of, and at times leading
networks for sharing practice, including Great Expectations
Programme, KS2 Pupil Premium Project, informal twilight head teacher
discussions
 working more closely with the Teaching School Alliances to ensure that
a maximum number of maintained schools receive support on this issue
 promoting tools such as Parent 2 Parent
 designing and delivering bespoke CPD for individual schools or groups
of schools e.g. Defeating Disadvantage EY training, Early Reading
project

Agenda Pack Page 41

25

17.

Financial implications

17.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

18.

Equality Implications

18.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they
are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered, the equalities
implications of the decision that they are taking.

18.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure proper appreciation of any potential impact
of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and
carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

18.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality
of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and
maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

18.4

An EqIA has not been undertaken in relation to this report. The Panel are not
requested to make a decision in respect of the reports contents.

Background Information


Hertfordshire Strategy for School Improvement 2014-17
http://www.thegrid.org.uk/leadership/improvement/documents/herts_strategy_
school_improvement.pdf

Agenda Pack Page 42

26

Agenda
Item No.
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM PANEL
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 10:00AM

5

PROPOSALS TO UPDATE HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S PUBLIC
LIBRARY BYELAWS
Report of the Director of Resources
Author:

Taryn Pearson-Rose – Assistant Director: Customer Service and
Libraries.
(Tel: 01992 556012)

Executive Member:

Terry Douris (Education, Libraries and Localism)

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To propose amended Hertfordshire County Council Byelaws for the use of public
libraries, to reflect modern public library practice and updated guidance from the
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).

2.

Summary

2.1

Under section 19 of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (“the Act “), local
authorities may make byelaws regulating the use of library facilities run by each
authority under the Act. The Secretary of State for DCMS is required to confirm such
byelaws before they can have effect.

2.2

In practice, the relevant government department (currently the DCMS) has produced
model byelaws for the regulation of public libraries in England, for adoption by local
authorities. These model byelaws have been updated from time to time to reflect
changing public library practice. Hertfordshire’s current byelaws (attached as
Appendix A) were last updated in 1996.

2.3

In 2017, the DCMS issued revised model byelaws for public libraries (attached as
Appendix B), drawn up in consultation with The Society of Chief Librarians to reflect
changes in how people use libraries whilst maintaining suitable protections.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

Panel is asked to note and comment upon the content of the report and to
recommend to Cabinet that it recommends to Full Council that it adopts the revised
Public Library Byelaws, as set out in Appendix B.

Agenda Pack Page 43

Page 1 of 5

4.

Background

4.1

Under section 19 of the Act, local authorities may make byelaws regulating the use
of library facilities run by each authority. The Secretary of State is required to
confirm such byelaws before they can have effect.

4.2

The byelaws are intended to help libraries deliver their service within a safe and
comfortable environment, to safeguard library property and to make libraries
pleasant places for everyone. They assist the library workforce in their daily role,
they can be used when necessary to deal with the more extreme cases of behaviour
experienced and they allow for flexibility in dealing with local concerns.

5.

Process

5.1

It is a function of full Council to approve the making of byelaws by virtue of
paragraph F, schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(England) Regulations 2000 / 2853. In turn Section 236 of the Local Government
Act 1972 details the process a local authority must follow to make this particular type
of bylaw. The byelaws do not however take effect until they are confirmed by the
Secretary of State for DCMS in accordance with section 19 (1) of the Act.

5.2

In order for a byelaw to be confirmed by the Department for DCMS the local
authority need to firstly send their byelaws to DCMS indicating whether the local
authority is adopting the model byelaws with amendment or seeking amendments or
additions. Any changes will need to be detailed.

5.3

Following receipt of a request from the local authority to create or review the library
byelaws, using the new model, the DCMS will then consider the request, confirm
whether they are content and notify the local authority. Upon receipt of confirmation
from the DCMS, the local authority must:

5.3.1
5.3.2

Announce the proposed byelaws in the local newspaper; and
Deposit a sealed copy of the byelaws for public inspection at the offices of the local
authority for one month from the date of the newspaper announcement.

5.4

Once 5.3 has been completed, the local authority must send to the DCMS:

5.4.1
5.4.2
5.4.3
5.4.4

The signed and sealed byelaws for formal approval;
Newspaper cuttings showing the announcement;
A certified copy of the byelaws for departmental records; and
Confirmation that one-month public inspection has taken place.

5.5

The local authority must also display copies of all their public library byelaws in any
library building maintained by them and used by the public.

Agenda Pack Page 44

Page 2 of 5

6.

Summary of changes between the current and proposed Draft Byelaws

6.1

In Paragraph 1(h), in order to take account of Hertfordshire’s Community Libraries, it
is proposed that the definition of a library officer is broadened to include “any officer
employed, or volunteer appointed by the library authority in connection with its
functions under the Act”. This is the only point on which it is proposed that the
Hertfordshire Byelaws should vary from the model library byelaws drawn up by the
DCMS.

6.2

In Paragraph 3, the phrase “No person shall give a false name and address” is
replaced by the phrase “A person shall not supply an age, name, address or other
means of identification which is false or misleading”.

6.3

In Paragraph 5(a), the phrase “any dog (other than a working dog accompanying a
disabled person)” is replaced by the phrase “any dog (other than an assistance
dog)”.

6.4

In Paragraph 5(b), the phrase “a wheeled vehicle of conveyance other than a
wheelchair, pram, pushchair or shopping trolley” is replaced by the phrase “a
wheeled vehicle or conveyance other than those necessary for the assistance of
people with limited mobility”.

6.5

In Paragraph 5(d), the phrase “remain in the library after the time fixed for its
closing)” is replaced by the phrase “access or remain in the library outside of the
times fixed for its opening”.

6.6

In Paragraph 9, the phrase “No person shall behave in a disorderly manner in the
library, [or] use violent, abusive or obscene language therein”, is replaced by the
phrase “No person shall behave in a violent, disorderly or indecent manner in the
library [or] use violent, abusive, insulting or obscene language therein”.

6.7

Paragraph 10, which prohibits “sleeping” in the library and Paragraph 12, which
prohibits “engaging in audible conversation in any part of the library where such
conversation is prohibited” are removed. These are subsumed into Paragraph 10 in
the revised byelaws, which states “No person shall remain in the library without
making proper use of the library’s facilities after having been advised or requested,
by a library officer, to make such proper use of the facilities.”

6.8

Paragraph 15 which reads - “No person shall, without the consent of a library officer,
offer anything for sale in the library or canvass or seek signatures for petitions” is
replaced by Section 13 in the revised byelaws - “No person shall, without consent of
a library officer, offer anything for sale or seek donations on library premises or
canvass or seek signatures for petitions.”

6.9

Paragraph 17 which reads - “No person shall smoke, light a match or use a cigarette
lighter in the library” is replaced by Paragraph 15 in the revised byelaws – “No
person shall bring into or light any flame on library premises.”

Agenda Pack Page 45

Page 3 of 5

6.10

Paragraph 18 which reads – “No person in any part of the library shall inhale any
toxic substances for the purpose of intoxication or take any controlled drug as
defined by Schedule 2 of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 other than drugs dispensed
for and pursuant to prescription issued for him by a doctor under and in accordance
with the aforesaid Act” is replaced by Paragraph 16 in the revised byelaws – “No
person in any part of the library shall supply, take or be under the influence of
alcohol or any toxic substance sot the purpose of causing intoxication; or supply,
take or be under the influence of any controlled drug as defined by Schedule 2 of
the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 other than drugs dispensed for and pursuant to
prescription issued for him by a doctor under and in accordance with the aforesaid
Act.”

6.11

Paragraph 20, prohibiting the use of mobile telephones, portable computers and
other electrical equipment is removed.

6.12

Paragraphs 21 and 22, setting out procedures for overdue notices are replaced by
Section 19 in the revised byelaws, which states that: “Any person who has borrowed
library property which if returned would be returned late and who has been served
with a notice by the library authority demanding return of the library property shall
return the library property or pay the appropriate replacement cost and charges to a
library provided by the library authority within 14 days from the date the notice was
served”.

6.13

A new byelaw is introduced in Paragraph 20, which states that: “Any library user
whose personal details change must notify a library officer as soon as reasonably
possible or take responsibility for updating their own customer account”.

6.14

A new byelaw is introduced in Paragraph 21 to cover the use of online library
services. This states that: “A person shall use online resources in a way consistent
with any Conditions of Use Policy or similar rules of the library, as advertised or
notified by the authority. Breach of any such policy shall, without prejudice to any
other legal sanction or remedy available to the library authority, lead to the barring of
the use of such online resources”.

6.15

Paragraph 22 clarifies the consequences of contravening the byelaws. It states that:
“Any person who contravenes any of these byelaws shall, without prejudice to any
other legal sanction or remedy, be liable to prosecution by the library authority for
contravention of the byelaws and shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale in respect of each offence.”

7.

Financial implications

7.1

If the amendments are adopted by the County Council and confirmed by the
Department for DCMS, the byelaws will need to be republished and distributed to
relevant stakeholders. The cost will be met from within the existing Libraries budget.

Agenda Pack Page 46

Page 4 of 5

8.

Equalities implications

8.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered, the equality implications
of the decision that they are making.

8.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure proper appreciation of any potential impact of
that decision on the County Council's statutory obligations under the Public-Sector
Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully
consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by
officers.

8.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council, when exercising its functions, to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation.

8.4

An EqIA was not undertaken for the revised Byelaws, as they do not represent new
policy. The changes update existing policy and practice, following DCMS guidelines.
Background Information
None

Agenda Pack Page 47

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

LIBRARY PROCEDURES MANUAL

Bye Laws

BYELAWS
made under
section 19 of the
Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964
by the
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
1.

In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires:
(a)
"the Act" means the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964;
(b)

"charge" means any charge imposed in accordance with the Regulations;

(c)

"child" means a person under the age of 16 years;

(d)

"emergency situation" includes situations where a library or part of a library is required to be evacuated for security
reasons or because of threat from fire or other hazard and practices and false alarms in relation thereto;

(e)

"last known address" means the last address held on the library authority's records;

(f)

"the library authority" means the Hertfordshire County Council;

(g)

"library" means:
i.
Any premises which are occupied by a library authority and are premises where library facilities are made available
by the authority, in the course of their provision of a public library service, to members of the public;
ii.

Any vehicle which is used by the library authority for the purpose of providing a public library service to members of
the public and is a vehicle in which facilities are made available;

and includes any part of such premises or vehicle;
(h)

"the library officer" means any officer employed by the library authority in connection with its functions under the Act;

(i)

"library property" includes property owned by or provided for the use of the library authority whether or not it is made
available by the library authority for use by the public and property obtained by the library authority for the loan to or use
of the public;

(j)

"the Regulations" means The Library Charges (England and Wales) Regulations 1991 S.1.1991/2712;

(k)

words importing the masculine gender include the feminine, words in the singular include the plural and words in the
plural include the singular;

(l)

expressions used, unless the contrary intention appears, have the meaning which they bear in the Act and Regulations.

2.

An act performed in connection with the proper execution of his duty by a library officer shall not be a contravention of these
byelaws.

3.

No person shall give a false name or address for the purpose of entering the library or for the purpose of using any library
facility.

4.

No person who in the reasonable opinion of a library officer is offensively unclean in person or clothing or both shall remain in
the library after having been asked by a library officer to leave the library.

5.

Except with the consent of a library officer, no person shall:
(a)
cause or allow any dog (other than a working dog accompanying a disabled person) or other animal belonging to him or
under his control to enter or remain in the library;
(b)

bring into any part of the library a wheeled vehicle or conveyance other than a wheelchair, pram, pushchair or shopping
trolley;

(c)

enter or remain in any part of the library which a reasonable person would or should know is prohibited to the public or;

(d)

remain in the library after the time fixed for its closing.

6.

No person shall remain in the library after an emergency situation has been made known to him.

7.

No person shall, unless specifically permitted by a library officer, take or attempt to take any library property from the library or
past a check out or security point.

8.

No person shall, without lawful excuse, destroy or damage any library property intending to destroy or damage such property or
being reckless as to whether such property should be destroyed or damaged.

9.

No person shall behave in a disorderly manner in the library, use violent abusive or obscene language therein, or intentionally
or recklessly cause or do anything likely to cause injury to any other person or property.

Bye-laws
(republished 2012)

Agenda Pack Page 49

1

10.

No person shall sleep in the library have been requested not to do so by a library officer.

11.

No person shall remain in a library without making proper use of the library's facilities after having been requested, by a library
officer, to make such proper use of the facilities.

12.

No person shall engage in audible conversation in any part of the library where such conversation is prohibited by notice or
after having been requested not to do so by a library officer.

13.

No person shall intentionally or recklessly obstruct any library officer in the execution of his duty or intentionally or recklessly
disturb, obstruct, interrupt, abuse or annoy any other person properly using the library.

14.

No person shall, without the consent of a library officer, intentionally display, distribute, or leave any bill, placard, notice or other
document in the library.

15.

No person shall, without the consent of a library officer, offer anything for sale in the library or canvass or seek signatures for
petitions.

16.

No person having charge of a child shall without the consent of a library officer, leave him unsupervised in the library.

17.

No person shall smoke, light a match or use a cigarette lighter in the library.

18.

No person in any part of the library shall inhale any toxic substances for the purpose of causing intoxication or take any
controlled drug as defined by Schedule 2 of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 other than drugs dispensed for and pursuant to
prescription issued for him by a doctor under and in accordance with the aforesaid Act.

19.

No person shall, except with the consent of a library officer, partake of refreshment in the library.

20.

No person shall, except with the consent of a library officer, cause or allow any mobile telephone, portable computer, or any
other electrical equipment, or apparatus for the reception of sound broadcasting or for the reproduction of sound, to be
operated in any part of the library to which the public has access.

21.

No person who:
(a)
borrows library property which is returned late or if returned would be returned late
(b)
fails to pay any charge
shall, unless with the specific consent of a library officer, borrow any other library property.

22.a

Any person who has borrowed library property which if returned would be returned late and who has been served with a notice
by the library authority demanding return of the library property shall return the library property within 14 days from the date the
notice was served.

22.b

For the purpose of this byelaw, a notice may be served upon any person by delivering it to him, or by leaving it at his last known
address, or by sending it by post addressed to him at that address.

23.

Except as regards byelaws 8 and 18 in respect of which a prosecution may be brought under the Criminal Damage Act 1971 or
the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 respectively any person who contravenes any of the aforegoing byelaws shall be liable to
prosecution for contravention of the byelaws by the library authority and shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale in respect of each offence.

24.

A library officer may exclude any person who contravenes any of the foregoing byelaws from any library maintained by the
library authority under the Act.

25.

On the coming into operation of these byelaws, the byelaws relating to libraries which were made by the County Council of the
Administrative County of Hertford on the 16th day of May 1974, and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Education and
Science on the 12th day of August 1974, and amended on the 18th day of November 1985 and confirmed by the Head of Office
of Arts and Libraries on the 14th day of August 1986, shall be revoked.

THE COMMON SEAL OF
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL was hereunto affixed
this 6th day of March 1996
in the presence of:
Confirmed on behalf of the Secretary
of State for National Heritage by the
Head of Libraries and Information
Division Department of National Heritage
and shall come into force on 21st July 1996

W J Church
Director of Law and Administration

Signed
Duncan H Wilson
Head of Libraries sand Information Division
Department of National Heritage

This note is not part of the byelaws.
Users of library and library facilities are reminded that the provision of the general law apply at all times. In particular as
regards the activities referred to in byelaws 8 and 18 the library authority draws attention to the existence of the Criminal
Damage Act 1971 and the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971.
Bye-laws
Republished 2012

2

Agenda Pack Page 50

APPENDIX B
PROPOSED PUBLIC LIBRARY BYELAWS
Hertfordshire County Council Public Library Byelaws
Made under Section 19 of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964
1.

In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires:
a.

"the Act" means the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964;

b.

"charge" means any charge imposed in accordance with the Regulations;

c.

“child” means a person under the age of 16 years;

d.

"emergency situation" includes situations where a library or part of a library is
required to be evacuated for security reasons or because of threat from fire or
other hazard and practices and false alarms in relation thereto;

e.

"last known address" means the last address held on the library authority's
records;

f.

"the library authority" means Hertfordshire County Council

g.

"library" means:
i)

any premises which are occupied by a library authority and are premises
where library facilities are made available by the authority, in the course of
their provision of a public library service, to members of the public;

ii)

any vehicle which is used by the library authority for the purpose of
providing a public library service to members of the public and is a vehicle
in which facilities are made available; and includes any part of such
premises or vehicle;

h.

"the library officer" means any officer employed or volunteer appointed by the
library authority in connection with its functions under the Act;

i.

"library property" includes property owned by or provided for the use of the
library authority whether or not it is made available by the library authority for
use by the public and property obtained by the library authority for the loan to
or use of the public;

j.

"the Regulations" means The Library Charges (England and Wales)
Regulations 1991 S.I.1991/2712;

k.

words importing the masculine gender include the feminine, words in the
singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular;

l.

expressions used, unless the contrary intention appears, have the meaning
which they bear in the Act and Regulations.

Agenda Pack Page 51

2.

An act necessary for the proper execution of his duty by a library officer shall not be a
contravention of these byelaws.

3.

A person shall not supply an age, name, address or other means of identification
which is false or misleading for the purpose of entering any part of the library
premises or for the purpose of using any library facility.

4.

No person who in the reasonable opinion of a library officer is offensively unclean in
person or clothing or both shall remain in the library, after having been asked by a
library officer to leave the library.

5.

Except with the consent of a library officer, no person shall:
a.

cause or allow any dog (other than an assistance dog) or other animal
belonging to him or under his control to enter or remain in the library;

b.

bring into any part of the library a wheeled vehicle or conveyance other than
those necessary for the assistance of people with limited mobility;

c.

enter or remain in any part of the library which a reasonable person would or
should know is prohibited to the public; or

d.

access or remain in the library outside of the times fixed for its opening.

6.

No person shall remain in the library after an emergency situation has been made
known to him.

7.

No person shall, unless specifically permitted by a library officer, take or attempt to
take any library property from the library or past a check out or security point.

8.

No person shall, without lawful excuse, destroy or damage any library property
intending to destroy or damage such property or being reckless as to whether such
property should be destroyed or damaged or act with intent or recklessness that such
property should be destroyed or damaged.

9.

No person shall behave in a violent, disorderly or indecent manner in the library, use
violent, abusive, offensive, insulting or obscene language therein, or intentionally or
recklessly cause or do anything likely to cause injury to any other person.

10.

No person shall remain in a library without making proper use of the library’s facilities
after having been advised or requested, by a library officer, to make such proper use
of the facilities.

11.

No person shall intentionally or recklessly obstruct any library officer in the execution
of his or her duty or intentionally or recklessly disturb, obstruct, interrupt, abuse or
annoy any other person properly using the library.

12.

No person shall, without the consent of a library officer, intentionally display,
distribute, or leave any bill, placard, notice or other document on library premises.

13.

No person shall, without the consent of a library officer, offer anything for sale or seek
donations on library premises or canvass or seek signatures for petitions.

Agenda Pack Page 52

14.

No person having charge of a child shall without the consent of a library officer leave
him unsupervised in the library.

15.

No person shall bring into or light any flame on library premises.

16.

No person in any part of the library shall supply, take or be under the influence of
alcohol or any toxic substance for the purpose of causing intoxication; or supply, take
or be under the influence of any controlled drug as defined by Schedule 2 of the
Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 other than drugs dispensed for and pursuant to prescription
issued for him by a doctor under and in accordance with the aforesaid Act.

17.

No person shall, except with the consent of a library officer, partake of refreshment in
the library.

18.

No person who
a.

borrows library property which is returned late or if returned would be returned
late, or

b.

fails to pay any charge

shall, unless with the specific consent of a library officer, borrow any other library
property.
19.

Any person who has borrowed library property which if returned would be returned
late and who has been served with a notice by the library authority demanding return
of the library property shall return the library property or pay the appropriate
replacement cost and charges to a library provided by the library authority within 14
days from the date the notice was served.

20.

Any library user whose personal details change must notify a library officer as soon as
reasonably possible or take responsibility for updating their own customer account.

21.

A person shall use online resources in a way consistent with any Conditions of Use
Policy or similar rules of the library, as advertised or notified by the authority. Breach
of any such policy shall, without prejudice to any other legal sanction or remedy
available to the library authority, lead to the barring of the use of such online
resources.

22.

Any person who contravenes any of these byelaws shall, without prejudice to any
other legal sanction or remedy, be liable to prosecution by the library authority for
contravention of the byelaws, and shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale in respect of each offence.

23.

A library officer may exclude any person who contravenes any of the foregoing
byelaws from any library maintained by the library authority under the Act.

24.

On the coming into operation of these byelaws, the byelaws relating to libraries which
were made by Hertfordshire County Council on the 6th day of March 1996 and were
confirmed on behalf of the Secretary of State for National Heritage by the Head of
Libraries and Information Division, Department of National Heritage to come into force
on the 21st day of July 1996, shall be revoked.

Agenda Pack Page 53

The Common Seal of Hertfordshire County Council
was hereunto affixed on this
day of

in the presence of

The foregoing Byelaws are confirmed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture,
Media and Sport by the Deputy Director, Culture Directorate, Department for Digital, Culture,
Media and Sport and shall come into force on

[Signature]
[Print Name]

[Date]

Deputy Director, Culture Directorate
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
The date of coming into force is one month after date of signature.
This note is not part of the byelaws.
Users of the library and library facilities are reminded that the provisions of the general law
apply at all times. In particular as regards the activities referred to in byelaws 8 and 18 the
library authority draws attention to the existence of the Criminal Damage Act 1971 and the
Misuse of Drugs Act 1971.
People who intend to make copies of works are advised that they may only do so in
accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 and are liable
to prosecution under that Act if they fail to observe its provisions.

Agenda Pack Page 54

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 10:00AM

6

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR
2020/21
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Authors:-

Jayne Abery, Strategy and Policy Manager, Admissions &
Transport, Tel No: 01992 588785
Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning

Executive Member:-

Terry Douris, Education, Libraries & Localism

Local Member/s:

Jeff Jones, Buntingford
Ralph Sangster, Rickmansworth West
Nigel Bell, West Watford
Roma Mills, St Albans North

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To seek the views of Panel on the amendments to the County Council’s
admission arrangements for 2020/21, following consultation.

2.

Summary

2.1

The County Council must determine on an annual basis the admission
arrangements and published admission number for all community and voluntary
schools in Hertfordshire; and the coordinated schemes of admission to all
maintained schools and academies in the county.

2.2

A minimum of 6 weeks formal consultation is required, between 1 October and
31 January to amend admission arrangements for 2019/20. Cabinet agreed on
22 October 2018 to consult on amending the county council’s existing admission
arrangements for 2020/21.

2.3

Public consultation was undertaken with all relevant consultees, as specified in
the School Admissions Code, between 19 November and 6 January 2019. The
consultation document is available at www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/admissions

2.4

Local Authorities must also consult all community and voluntary controlled
schools where it is proposed that PAN’s are maintained or increased. This
consultation was also undertaken between 19 November 2018 and 6 January
2019.

2.5

Admission arrangements for 2020/21 must be determined by 28 February 2019.

Agenda Pack Page 55
1

3.

Recommendations

3.1

Panel is asked to note and comment upon the report and recommend to Cabinet
that it agrees that:(i)

the definition of “rule 2 – exceptional social and medical reasons to attend a
specific school” is amended to include children previously looked after
abroad (outside England);
(ii) the scheme of coordination is amended to clarify the process for late
applications and continuing interest;
(iii) the published admission number at Shepherd Primary School, Mill End is
reduced to 30;
(iv) the published admission number at Margaret Wix Primary School, St
Albans is reduced to 30;
(v) the published admission number at Holywell Primary School, Watford is
reduced to 60;
(vi) the published admission number at Jenyns First School, Braughing is
reduced to 15; and
(vii) the remainder of the County Council’s admission arrangements and
schemes of coordination are retained for 2020/21, save as mentioned
above.
4.

Background

4.1

The School Admissions Code requires all admission authorities to consult on
their admission arrangements (if there have been no changes) every 7 years. On
22 October 2018 Cabinet agreed that public consultation should be undertaken
to amend the county council’s admission arrangements for 2020/21 as outlined
above. Cabinet also agreed that the schemes of coordination and remainder of
the admission arrangements should remain the same. The Cabinet paper is
available at www.democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk

4.2

The County Council is the admission authority for 252 primary, infant and first
schools and 2 secondary schools. When any of these schools are
oversubscribed the County Council’s published admission arrangements,
outlined in Appendix A, are used to determine which children should be offered
places.

4.3

The County Council’s existing admission arrangements work well with, in 2018,
nearly 97% of children allocated a ranked primary school and over 94% a ranked
secondary school. Maintaining existing arrangements, with minor amendments to
definitions, will minimise parental anxiety around school places and maximise the
benefits of existing knowledge of the allocation process.

4.4

There have been 57 responses to the consultation including 39 parents/carers,
13 schools and a parish council. A full breakdown of consultation responses is
attached at Appendix B.
Children looked after from abroad

4.5

Consultation has been undertaken to amend the definition of “Rule 2 –
exceptional social and medical need to attend a specific school” for both primary
and secondary schools to include the prioritisation of “children previously in care
outside England and
subsequently
Agenda
Packadopted”.
Page 56
2

4.6

Currently all schools and academies are required to give highest priority in their
oversubscription criteria (Rule 1) to children looked after, including children who
were previously looked after but were adopted or who became subject to a child
arrangement order or a special guardianship order. To qualify adopted children
must have been previously looked after by a local authority in England or Wales.

4.7

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 amended the Children Act 1989 so that
a local authority now has the same duty in relation to receiving advice and
information for the purpose of promoting their educational achievement, to
children previously looked after in state care abroad and subsequently adopted,
as it has for children who were previously looked after and adopted in England
and Wales.

4.8

The Minster of State, Nick Gibb, wrote to all admission authorities on 3
December 2017 asking for this category of children to also be given the highest
priority for admission and made clear that the current government would be
seeking a change in the School Admissions Code in the future to make this a
statutory requirement. Hertfordshire was mid-way through its admissions
consultation process for 2019/20 when the letter was received and it was not
therefore possible to consider introducing this change before 2020/21. A change
without consultation would have been unlawful. The School Admissions Code is
issued under Sections 84 and 85 of the School Standards Framework Act 1998
which sets out the process for its adoption. This requires that any revisions of the
School Admissions Code needs to be consulted upon before it is laid before
Parliament for approval.

4.9

Advice received from the DfE and Chief Adjudicator after the letter has made
clear that “Rule 1” cannot be amended to include this additional category of
previously looked children because the existing definition is laid out in
Regulations and cannot be amended without parliamentary approval (which will
not happen until after Brexit clears Parliament.

4.10

Further advice issued from the DfE on 6 August 2018 confirmed the Minister’s
intention to amend the Code and formally requested all admission authorities to
give these children second highest priority for any school. To meet the DFE’s
request, and to, consultation has been undertaken to amend the County
Council’s oversubscription criteria to allow the prioritisation of these children
within Rule 2 ”exceptional social and medical reasons to attend a particular
school”. This will give children previously looked outside England an almost
guaranteed place at a school (or academy that adopts the County Council’s
arrangements) without significantly changing the County Council’s current
arrangements or adding another oversubscription criteria.

4.11

Officers have written to all own admission authorities in Hertfordshire explaining
that the individual arrangements of all schools should be amended to ensure that
children looked after from abroad should be given the 2nd highest priority in
oversubscription criteria and that the definition above should be used to decide
applications. An offer has also been made for the County Council (the
Admissions Service and Virtual School working together) to act as a ”clearing
house” for any applications from this sector to ensure consistency of decision
making across the county.

4.12

There were 49 responses to this proposal, 37 in favour and 12 against.
Comments received against the proposal were all from parents/carers and
mainly reflected concerns about the lack of school places in particular areas for
local children and children from
abroad orPack
lookedPage
after being
Agenda
57 given an “unfair”
3

advantage.
4.13

There are 298 schools and academies in Hertfordshire responsible of their own
admissions; 61 (20%) are consulting on this amendment.

4.14

The full wording of the new rule and definition is included with the admission
arrangements in Appendix A
Scheme of coordination

4.15

All local authorities are required to publish schemes of coordination which outline
the admission and allocation processes across the authority, the exchange of
date with other authorities and the timelines involved. Hertfordshire’s schemes of
coordination have remained the same for a number of years and have simply
been updated to take into account legislative or policy changes. The schemes
also outline coordination after allocation day – as required by the School
Admissions Code.

4.16

Over recent years it has become apparent, both in the allocation of places after
national offer day and in the annual scrutiny of admission arrangements for own
admission authority schools, that some schools have introduced arrangements
for the treatment of late applications during the continuing interest process that
are in breach of the School Admissions Code’s requirements for all applications
(received “late”) to be treated equitably regardless of the date of application. It is
not appropriate for schools to process totally new applications at the continuing
interest stage of the allocation process (i.e. those who did not initially make an
on-time application) but refuse or delay processing applications from those who
have changed their preferences for the continuing interest process.

4.17

Whilst County Council officers have previously written to schools on this issue a
recent determination from the Office of the Schools Adjudicator has confirmed
that such arrangements are in breach of the Code. To ensure clarity and
transparency for all schools consultation has been undertaken to amend the
schemes of coordination and provide more detail on the county wide process for
late applications and continuing interest.

4.18

There were 35 responses to this proposal, 33 in favour and 2 against. 9 schools
and 19 Hertfordshire parents were in favour of the proposal. No schools were
against the proposal. The comments received against the proposal were from
parents/carers and indicated a lack of understanding about the proposal.

4.19

The new scheme wording is at Appendix C.
Published Admission Numbers

4.20




4.21

Consultation has been undertaken to reduce the Published Admission Number
(PAN) at 4 primary schools for 2020/21 :
Shepherd Primary, Mill End
Margaret Wix Primary School, St Albans
Holywell Primary School, Watford
Jenyns First School, Braughing
Consultation for each of these PAN reductions was undertaken in the
“relevant area” only and responses were minimal. PAN’s for all Hertfordshire
Agenda
Pack Page
community and voluntary
controlled
schools58
for 20/21 are at Appendix D.
4

Shepherd Primary School, Mill End
4.22

The Rickmansworth area currently has surplus places in the majority of year
groups, with smaller cohorts expected in future years. There is also forecast
surplus capacity in neighbouring primary planning areas Croxley Green and
Chorleywood. Shepherd Primary has requested its PAN to be reduced by 1 f.e.
from September 2020 to support efficient organisation and use of resource and
consultation has been undertaken on this basis.

4.23

For September 2018, the school was initially allocated 35 pupils and after the
second round of continuing interest this had dropped to 32. Organising reception
into two classes of 16 children to meet infant class size legislation results in an
inefficient use of resources and the school is concerned that it will fall into
financial difficulty if these numbers are repeated across a number of years.
Should pupil numbers increase, the admission number will be increased back to
60 on either a permanent or temporary basis

4.24

An in-year variation (IYV) has been submitted to the Office of the School’s
Adjudicator to reduce the PAN for the 2019/20 reception cohort. The Office of
the School’s Adjudicator is currently considering this request. If the IYV is
approved the PAN will be reduced from 2019/20 onwards. However, as there is
no guarantee that the IYV will be approved, it is also necessary to pursue a
parallel process, via local consultation and determination.

4.25

Only 17 responses were received to this proposal; 14 in favour and 3 against.
The only negative comment was from a parent living outside the area concerned
about the overall availability of school places
Margaret Wix Primary School, St Albans

4.26

In St Albans City there are sufficient places to meet demand across the forecast
period, with surplus spaces predicted year on year. However, there is localised
pressure on places, particularly around London Road and the city centre, which
the County Council is seeking to help mitigate through the expansion of St
Peter’s School from September 2020.

4.27

There is a particular concentration of surplus capacity in the north-west where it
is forecast there will be more than 1.6 f.e. spare places each year. It is therefore
proposed that the PAN at Margaret Wix School is reduced by 1 f.e. to manage
the amount of surplus in the area and give the school better certainty around
staffing and organisation.

4.28

In recent years all families who have applied for places at Margaret Wix School
have been able to obtain places, and it is anticipated that this will remain the
case after the proposed PAN reduction. Reducing the PAN at Margaret Wix
School would still leave sufficient places available in the locality, and the same
number of places available across the city following the expansion of St Peters
School. However, places would be better located to meet demand within St
Albans.

4.29

Consultation has been undertaken to reduce the PAN at Margaret Wix from 60 to
30. There were 16 responses; 9 in favour and 7 against. 6 of the 7 responses
against the proposal were from parents/carers who were, in the main, concerned
about the overall capacity andAgenda
location of Pack
primaryPage
schools59
in St Albans.
5

Holywell Primary School, Watford
4.30

Watford Town has experienced growth at a high rate for most of the past
decade. A number of schools have been expanded to help meet rising demand,
and the County Council also facilitated the opening of two new primary schools,
Lanchester and Ascot Road.

4.31

More recently the DfE approved the opening of the 2 f.e. St Johns C of E School
in the south of the town. Capacity across the south of the town is now more than
adequate to meet demand, with 2-3 f.e. surplus across the forecast period.

4.32

Holywell Primary, currently a 3 f.e. school, has requested its PAN be reduced by
30 places from September 2020 to give greater certainty over staffing and
organisation. Although nominally having a 3 f.e. intake, it has not been
necessary for the school to run three classes in recent years. It is anticipated that
all families who apply for places will still be able to be accommodated following
the proposed reduction. The school is aware that should demand rise in the
future, it will be met by an increase in its PAN on a temporary or permanent
basis.

4.33

Consultation has been undertaken to reduce the school’s PAN to 60. There were
8 responses; 7 in favour and one parent against who again was concerned about
“the decreasing number of primary places” in Hertfordshire.
Jenyns First School, Braughin

4.34

Braughing is a small village school, and the only school in the planning area.
The school currently has a PAN of 21 which is not compatible with infant classsize legislation. The School has requested a PAN reduction in order to
reorganise classes and teachers to ensure financial stability.

4.35

Consultation has been undertaken to reduce the school’s PAN from 21 to 15;
pupil forecast and GP data suggests that a PAN of 15 is sufficient to meet local
need.

4.36

An In Year Variation (IYV) has been submitted to the Schools Adjudicator to
reduce the school’s PAN to 15 for 2019. If the IYV is approved the PAN will be
reduced from 2019/20 onwards. However, as there is no guarantee that the IYV
will be approved, it is also necessary to pursue a parallel process, via local
consultation and determination.

4.37

Only 2 responses were received to this proposal; one parent was in favour and
one against. However, the parent against the proposal commented about the
lack of places in St Albans and so is unlikely to be resident in the local area.

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

There is no budgetary impact to the County Council. The reduction in PAN at
four primary schools will improve the long term financial viability of each school.

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the Equality
Implications of theAgenda
decision that
theyPage
are making.
Pack
60
6

6.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential
impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the
Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read
and carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)
produced by officers.

6.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council when exercising its functions
to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

6.4

EqIAs were attached to the October 2018 Cabinet report1. Responses to the
consultation do not indicate that the proposals will have an adverse impact upon
any particular group with a protected characteristic and the EqIAs remain
unchanged.
Background Information
None

Agenda Pack Page 61
1

https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=966#mgDocuments

7

Appendix Ai

Hertfordshire County Council’s proposed oversubscription criteria for community
and voluntary controlled, first, infant, primary, junior and middle schools for the
school year 2020/21
Section 324 of the Education Act 1996 requires the governing bodies of all
maintained schools to admit a child with a statement of special educational needs
that names their school. Schools must also admit children with an EHC (Education,
Health and Care) Plan that names the school.
If there are fewer applications than places available at a school all applicants will
be admitted. If there are more applications than places available, the criteria outlined
below will be used to prioritise applications.
Oversubscription criteria
Rule 1: Children looked after and children who were previously looked
after, but ceased to be so because they were adopted (or became subject
to a child arrangements order or a special guardianship order)*.
Rule 2: Medical or Social
Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular medical or
social need to go to the school, this includes children previously from abroad who
were cared for by the state because he or she would not otherwise have been
cared for adequately and subsequently adopted.
A panel of officers will determine whether the evidence provided is sufficiently
compelling to meet the requirements for this rule. The evidence must relate
specifically to the school applied for under Rule 2 and must clearly demonstrate why it
is the only school that can meet the child’s needs.
Rule 3: Linked School (This rule only applies to pupils who are currently
attending an infant school which has a linked junior school¹.)
In the case of junior schools, children who attend the linked infant school at the
time of their application.
Rule 4: Sibling
Children who have a sibling on the roll of the school or linked school at the time of
application*. This applies to reception through to Year 5 in infant, junior and primary
schools; and from reception through to Year 3 in first schools; and from Year 5 to Year
7 in middle schools.
Rule 5: Nearest School
Children for whom it is their nearest school or academy.
This includes all schools except those which allocate places on the basis of faith.
Rule 6: Distance
Children who live nearest to the school.
Children not considered under rule 5 will be considered under rule 6.

Agenda Pack Page 62
8

These rules are applied in the order they are printed above. If more children qualify
under a particular rule than there are places available, a tie break will be used by
applying the next rule to those children.
Tie Break
When there is a need for a tie break where two different addresses are the same
distance from a school, in the case of a block of flats for example, the lower door
number will be deemed nearest as logically this will be on the ground floor and
therefore closer. If there are two identical addresses of separate applicants, the tie
break will be random. Every child entered onto the HCC admissions database has
an individual random number assigned, between 1 and 1 million, against each
preference school. When there is a need for a final tie break the random number is
used to allocate the place, with the lowest number given priority.
*Please see the ‘Explanatory notes and definitions 2019/20 document for a full explanation/definition.

Continuing Interest
After places have been offered, Hertfordshire County Council will maintain a
continuing interest (waiting) list for all community and voluntary controlled schools. A
child’s position on a CI list will be determined by the admission criteria outlined
above and a child’s place on the list can change as other children join or leave it.
The county council will contact parents/carers if a vacancy becomes available and it
can be offered to a child. Continuing interest lists will be maintained for every year
group until the summer term (date to be confirmed). To retain a CI application after
this time, parents must make an In Year application.
Fair Access
Community and voluntary controlled schools will admit children under the Fair Access
Protocol before those on continuing interest, and over the Published Admission
Number (PAN) if required.

Agenda Pack Page 63
9

Linked infant and junior schools
The table below shows the community and voluntary controlled infant schools and
academies which are “linked” for allocations to junior schools under Rule 3.

School
type

Infant school

Town

Linked Junior school

School
type

St Mary’s Church of England (VC) Infant School

VC

Baldock

St Mary’s C of E (VC) Junior School

VC

Bushey and Oxhey Infant School

C

Bushey

Bushey Manor Junior School

C

Merry Hill Infant School and Nursery

C

Bushey

Ashﬁeld Junior School

VC

Brookland Infant and Nursery School

C

Cheshunt

Brookland Junior School

C

Malvern Way Infant and Nursery School

C

Croxley

Little Green Junior School

C

Kingsway Infant School

C

Garston

Kingsway Junior School

C

Crabtree Infants’ School

A

Harpenden

Crabtree Junior School

A

The Grove Infant and Nursery School

C

Harpenden

The Grove Junior School

C

Chaulden Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Chaulden Junior School

A

Hobletts Manor Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Hobletts Manor Junior School

C

Holtsmere End Infant and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Holtsmere End Junior School

C

Highbury Infant School and Nursery

C

Hitchin

Whitehill Junior School

C

Strathmore Infant and Nursery School

C

Hitchin

Wilshere-Dacre Junior School

C

Hillshott Infant School and Nursery

C

Letchworth

Pixmore Junior School

C

Icknield Infant and Nursery School

C

Letchworth

Wilbury Junior School

C

Northﬁelds Infant and Nursery School

C

Letchworth

Grange Junior School

C

St John’s C of E Infant and Nursery School

VC

Radlett

Fair Field Junior School

A

Redbourn Infant and Nursery School

C

Redbourn

Redbourn Junior School

C

Fawbert and Barnard Infants’ School

C

Sawbridgeworth

Reedings Junior School

C

Bernards Heath Infant School

C

St Albans

Bernards Heath Junior School

C

Cunningham Hill Infant School

C

St Albans

Cunningham Hill Junior School

C

Fleetville Infant and Nursery School

A

St Albans

Fleetville Junior School

A

Wheatfields Infants’ and NurserySchool

C

St Albans

Wheatfields Junior School

C

Giles Nursery and Infant’s School

C

Stevenage

Giles Junior School

C

Letchmore Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Stevenage

Almond Hill Junior School

C

Woolenwick Infant and Nursery School

C

Stevenage

Woolenwick Junior School

C

Goldﬁeld Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Tring

Bishop Wood C of E Junior School

VA

Kingshill Infant School

C

Ware

St Mary’s (VC) C of E Junior School

VC

Cassiobury Infant and Nursery School

C

Watford

Cassiobury Junior School

C

Chater Infant School

C

Watford

Chater Junior School

C

Nascot Wood Infant and Nursery School

C

Watford

Nascot Wood Junior School

C

Parkgate Infants and Nursery School

C

Watford

Parkgate Junior School

C

Watford Field School Infant & Nursery

C

Watford

Field Junior School

C

Agenda Pack Page 64
1
0

Appendix Aii

Hertfordshire County Council’s oversubscription criteria for secondary and
upper community coeducational schools for 2019/20
Section 324 of the Education Act 1996 requires the governing bodies of all
maintained schools to admit a child with a statement of special educational needs
that names their school. Schools must also admit children with an EHC (Education,
Health and Care) Plan that names the school.
If there are fewer applications than places available at a school all applicants will be
admitted. If there are more applications than places available, the criteria outlined
below will be used to prioritise applications.
Oversubscription criteria
Rule 1: Children looked after
Children looked after and children who were previously looked after, but ceased to
be so
because they were adopted (or became subject to a child arrangements order or a
special guardianship order)*.
Rule 2: Medical or Social
Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular medical or social
need to go to the school, including children previously looked after from abroad (
outside England)* and subsequently adopted.
A panel of officers will determine whether the evidence provided is sufficiently
compelling to meet the requirements for this rule. The evidence must relate specifically
to the school applied for under Rule 2 and must clearly demonstrate why it is the only
school that can meet the child’s needs.
Rule 3: Sibling
Children who have a sibling at the school at the time of application, unless the sibling
is in the last year of the normal age-range of the school*.
Note: the ‘normal age range’ is the designated range for which the school provides, for example Years
7 to 11 in an 11-16 secondary school, Years 7 to 13 in an 11-18 school.

Rule 4: Children who live in the priority area for whom it is their nearest*
Hertfordshire maintained school or academy that is non-faith, co-educational and
non-partially selective.
Note: Non-partially selective means that the school does not offer any places based on academic
ability.

Rule 5: Children who live in the priority area who live nearest to the school.
Rule 6: Children living outside the priority area on the basis of distance, with those
living
nearest to the school given priority.
These rules are applied in the order they are printed above. If more children qualify
under a particular rule than there are places available, a tiebreak will be used by
applying the next rule to those children.

Agenda Pack Page 65
1
1

Tie break
When there is a need for a tie break where two different addresses are the same
distance from a school, in the case of a block of flats for example, the lower door
number will be deemed nearest as logically this will be on the ground floor and
therefore closer. If there are two identical addresses of separate applicants, the tie
break will be random. Every child entered onto the HCC admissions database has an
individual random number assigned, between 1 and 1 million, against each
preference school. When there is a need for a final tie break the random number is
used to allocate the place, with the lowest number given priority.
*Please see the ‘Explanatory notes and definitions 2020/21 document for a full explanation/definition.

Continuing Interest
After places have been offered, Hertfordshire County Council will maintain a
continuing interest (waiting) list for all community and voluntary controlled schools.
A child’s position on a CI list will be determined by the admission criteria outlined
above and a child’s place on the list can change as other children join or leave it.
The county council will contact parents/carers if a vacancy becomes available and it
can be offered to a child. Continuing interest lists will be maintained for every year
group until the summer term (date to be specified and confirmed to parents at the
time of allocation). To retain a CI application after this time, parents must make an
In Year application.
Fair Access
Community and voluntary controlled schools will admit children under the Fair
Access Protocol before those on continuing interest, and over the Published
Admission Number (PAN) if required.
Priority Areas
The coeducational priority areas in the admission rules are based on the following
towns, parishes/ unparished areas. These apply to Rules 4 and 5. Academies
and foundation schools (agreed or proposed) that will be retaining the county
county’s priority areas as part of their admission arrangements for 2019/20 have
been included for information but are marked with an asterisk*

Priority Area

Towns/Parishes/Unparished areas

Schools

1

Hitchin

Hexton, Hitchin, Holwell, Ickleford,Langley, Lilley,
Offley, Pirton, Preston, St. Ippolyts, Wymondley.

The Priory *

2

Letchworth Garden City

Letchworth.

Fearnhill*, The Highfield*

3

Baldock and
surrounding villages

Ashwell, Baldock, Bygrave, Caldecote, Clothall,
Edworth, Hinxworth, Newnham, Radwell, Rushden,
Sandon, Wallington, Weston.

The Knights Templar*

Buntingford, Puckeridge
and Royston

Anstey, Ardeley, Aspenden, Barkway, Barley,
Braughing, Brent Pelham, Buckland, Buntingford,
Cottered, Great Munden,Hormead, Kelshall,
Meesden, Nuthampstead, Reed, Royston, Standon,
Therfield, Westmill, Wyddial.

The Meridian*

4

Agenda Pack Page 66

1
2

5

Stevenage

6

Hemel Hempstead,
Kings Langley,
Berkhamstead, Tring,
Garston, Watford,
Chorleywood and
Rickmansworth

7

8

Harpenden and St. Albans

Ware and Hertford

11

12

Abbots Langley, Aldbury, Berkhamsted, Bovingdon,
Chipperfield, Chorleywood, Croxley Green,
Flaunden, Great Gaddesden, Hemel Hempstead,
Kings Langley, Little Gaddesden, Maple Cross,
Nash Mills, Nettleden with Potten End, Northchurch,
Rickmansworth, Sarratt, Tring, Tring Rural,
Watford,Wigginton.

Ayot St. Lawrence, Colney Heath, Flamstead,
Harpenden, Harpenden Rural, Kimpton, King’s
Walden, London Colney, Markyate, Redbourn,
Ridge, Sandridge, St. Michael, St. Pauls Walden,
St. Stephens, St. Albans, Shenley,
Wheathampstead.

Welwyn Garden City, Hatfield,
Ayot St. Peter, Codicote, Essendon, Hatfield, North
Potters Bar and Brookmans Park Mymms, Potters Bar, South Mymms, Welwyn Garden
City, Welwyn, Woolmer Green.

9

10

Aston, Benington, Datchworth, Graveley, Great
Ashby, Knebworth, Stevenage, Walkern.

Bishop’s Stortford and
Sawbridgeworth

Borehamwood, Bushey and
Watford Rural

Hoddesdon, Broxbourne,
Turnford and Cheshunt

The Barclay, Barnwell*,
Marriotts, The Nobel*,
Thomas Alleyne*
Adeyfield*, Ashlyns*,
The Astley Cooper*, The
Cavendish*, The Hemel
Hempstead, Longdean*, Kings
Langley*, Westfield*

Beaumont*, Roundwood Park*,
Samuel Ryder*, Sir John
Lawes*, Katherine Warington

Monks Walk*, Onslow St. Audreys*,
Sir Frederic Osborn*, Stanborough*

Bayford, Bengeo Rural, Bramfield, Brickendon Liberty,
Great Amwell, Hertford, Hertford Heath, Hertingfordbury,
Hunsdon, Little Berkhamsted, Little Munden, Sacombe, Chauncy*, Simon Balle*
StansteadSt.
Margarets, Stapleford, Tewin, Thundridge, Ware,
Wareside, Watton-at-Stone,Widford.

Albury, Birchanger, Bishop’s Stortford, Eastwick,
Elsenham, Furneux Pelham, Gilston, Great Hallingbury,
High Wych, Little Hadham, Little Hallingbury, Much
Hadham, Sawbridgeworth, Sheering, Stocking Pelham,
Thorley.
Aldenham, Bushey, Elstree, Borehamwood, Watford
Rural.

Broxbourne, Cheshunt, Hoddesdon, Nazeing, Northaw & Robert Barclay*, Haileybury
Turnford*, Goffs-Churchgate*
Cuffley, Stanstead Abbots,Waltham Cross.

Agenda Pack Page 67
1
3

Appendix Aiii

Explanatory notes and definitions for the admission arrangements for
community and voluntary-controlled schools in Hertfordshire for 2020/21
The following definitions apply to terms used in the admissions criteria:
Rule 1: Children looked after and children who were previously looked after,
but ceased to be so because they were adopted (or became subject to a
child arrangements order¹ or a special guardianship order²)
As a result of Regulation 7 of the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements
and Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2012 places
are allocated to children who are looked after. These children will be prioritised
under rule 1.
Highest priority will also be given to children who were looked after, but ceased
to be so because they were adopted, or became subject to a child arrangements
order or a special guardianship order.
A “child looked after” is a child who is:
in the care of a local authority, or
b)
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the
exercise of their social services functions (section 22(1) of The
Children Act 1989)
All children adopted from care who are of compulsory school age are eligible for
admission under rule 1.³
a)

Children in the process of being placed for adoption are classified by law as
children looked after providing there is a Placement Order and the application
would be prioritised under Rule 1.
Children who were not “looked after” immediately before being adopted, or
made the subject of a child arrangement order or special guardianship order, will
not be prioritised under rule 1. Applications made for these children, with suitable
supporting professional evidence, can be considered under rule 2.
¹ Child arrangements order
Under the provisions of the Children and Families Act 2014, which amended section 8 of the
Children Act 1989, residence orders have now been replaced by child arrangements orders
which settle the arrangements to be made as to the person with whom the child is to live.
² Special guardianship order
Under 14A of The Children Act 1989, an order appointing one or more individuals to be a
child’s special guardian or guardians.
³ This definition has been amended.

Agenda Pack Page 68

14

Rule 2: Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular
medical or social need to go to the school
Rule 2 applications will only be considered at the time of the initial application,
unless there has been a significant and exceptional change of circumstances
within the family since the initial application was submitted.
All schools in Hertfordshire have experience in dealing with children with diverse
social and medical needs. However in a few very exceptional cases, there are
reasons why a child has to go to one specific school.
Few applications under Rule 2 are agreed.
Applications for children adopted but previously looked after abroad will be
considered under this rule and accepted if the child’s previously looked status and
adoption is confirmed. Hertfordshire’s “Virtual School” will be asked to verify all such
applications.
All applications are considered individually but a successful application should
include the following:
a.

b.

Evidence that the child was previously cared for by the state abroad because he
or she would not otherwise have been cared for adequately and has been
subsequently adopted

OR
Specific recent professional evidence that justifies why only one school
can meet a child’s individual needs, and/or

c.

Professional evidence that outlines exceptional family circumstances
making clear why only one school can meet he child’s needs.

d.

If the requested school is not the nearest school to the child’s home
address clear reasons why the nearest school is not appropriate.

e.

For medical cases – a clear explanation of why the child’s severity of
illness or disability makes attendance at only a specific school essential.

Evidence should make clear why only one school is appropriate.
Applications under Rule 2 can only be considered when supported by a recent letter
from a professional involved with the child or family, for example a doctor,
psychologist or police officer. The supporting evidence needs to demonstrate why
only one named school can meet the social/medical needs of the child.
Applications for children previously “looked after” but not meeting the specific
criteria outlined in Rule 1, may be made under this rule.
Further details on the Rule 2 process can be found in the Rule 2 protocol.
Definition of sibling
For applications to schools using Hertfordshire County Council's admission criteria,
a sibling is defined as: the sister, brother, half brother or sister, adopted brother or
sister, child of the parent/carer or partner or a child looked after or previously
looked after¹ and in every case living permanently² in a placement within the home

Agenda Pack Page 69

15

as part of the family household from Monday to Friday at the time of this
application.
A sibling must be on the roll of the named school at the time the younger child
starts or have been offered and accepted a place.
If a place is obtained for an older child using fraudulent information, there will
be no sibling connection available to subsequent children from that family.
¹ Children previously looked after are those children adopted or with a special guardianship order or
child arrangements order. This definition was amended following a determination by the OSA in
August 2014.
² A sibling link will not be recognised for children living temporarily in the same house, for example a
child who usually lives with one parent but has temporarily moved or a looked after child in a respite
placement or very short term or bridging foster placement.

Multiple births
Hertfordshire County Council as the admission authority will admit over the school’s
published admission number when a single twin/multiple birth child is allocated the
last place at a school. Where we are not the admitting authority we would
request the school take in the subsequent child(ren) in line with the school’s own
admission arrangements.
Home address
The address provided must be the child’s current permanent address at the time
of application. ‘At the time of application’ means the closing date for applications.
“Permanent” means that the child has lived at that address for at least a year
and/or the family own the property or have a tenancy agreement for a minimum of
12 months.
The application can only be processed using one address. If a child lives at more
than one address (for example due to a separation) the address used will be the
one which the child lives at for the majority of the time. If a child lives at two
addresses equally, the address of the parent/carer that claims Child Benefit/Child
Tax Credit will be considered as the child’s main residence.
If a family is not in receipt of Child Benefit/Tax Credit alternative documentation will
be requested.
If a child’s residence is in dispute, parents/carers should provide court
documentation to evidence the address that should be used for admission
allocation purposes.
If two different applications are received for the same child from the same address,
e.g. containing different preferences, the application from the parent in receipt of
child benefit will be processed if the applications cannot be reconciled.

Agenda Pack Page 70

16

Fraudulent applications
Hertfordshire County Council will do as much as possible to prevent applications
being made from fraudulent addresses, including referring cases to the Shared
Anti-Fraud service for further investigation as necessary.
Address evidence is frequently requested, monitored and checked and school
places will be withdrawn when false information is deliberately provided.
Hertfordshire County Council will take action in the following circumstances:


When a child’s application address does not match the address of that
child at their current school;



When a child lives at a different address to the applicant;



When the applicant does not have parental responsibility;



When a family move shortly after the closing date of applications when
one or more of the following applies:





The family has moved to a property from which their application
was less likely to be successful;



The family has returned to an existing property;



The family lived in rented accommodation for a short period of time
(anything less than a year) over the application period;



Official/public records show an alternative address at the time of
the application

When a child starts at the allocated school and their address is different
from the address used at the time of application.

Parents/carers will need to show that they have relinquished residency ties with their
previous property and they, and their child(ren) are permanently residing at the
address given on the application form.
Home to school distance measurement for purposes of admissions
A ‘straight line’ distance measurement is used in all home to school distance
measurements for community and voluntary controlled schools in Hertfordshire.
Distances are measured using a computerised mapping system to two decimal
places. The measurement is taken from the AddressBase Premium address point
of your child’s house to the address point of the school. AddressBase Premium
data is a nationally recognised method of identifying the location of schools and
individual residences.
Definition of “nearest school” for secondary/upper admissions
For coeducational community schools, the “nearest school” definition for rule 4 is
“the nearest Hertfordshire maintained school or academy that is non-faith, coeducational, and non-partially selective.

Agenda Pack Page 71

17

Note – non-partially selective means that the school does not offer any places
based on academic ability.
Coeducational schools/academies which select partially on ability are:






Dame Alice Owen’s School
Parmiter’s School
Queens’ School
Rickmansworth School
St Clement Danes School

For all coeducational community schools this definition applies to rule 4.
Definition of “nearest school” for primary/junior/middle admissions
The definition of “nearest school” includes all schools and academies (regardless of
status) unless that school or academy prioritises applications and allocates places
on the basis of faith.

Agenda Pack Page 72

18

Applications from children* from overseas
All children of compulsory school age (5 to 16 years) in England have a right of
access to education. However, where a child is in England for a short period only,
for example less than half a term, it may be reasonable to refuse admission to a
school.
An application for a school place will only be accepted for such children currently
overseas if, for In Year applications, proof is provided that the child will be
resident in Hertfordshire within two weeks. In Year allocations are made on the
assumption that the child will accept the school place and be on roll within that
timescale.
For the Primary and Secondary transfer processes, applications will not normally
be accepted from, nor places allocated to, an overseas address. The exception
to this (for both In Year and transfer processes) is for children of UK service
personnel and crown servants (and from military families who are residents of
countries with a Memorandum of Understanding with the UK). In these cases
HCC will allocate a place in advance of the family arriving in the area provided the
application is accompanied by an official letter that declares a relocation date
and a HCC Unit postal address or quartering area address, for consideration of
the application against oversubscription criteria
Applications will also be considered, and places offered in advance for these
families, if the application is accompanied by an official letter that declares a
relocation date but does not provide a quartering or unit address because the
family will be residing in private accommodation. In these cases, if the family does
not already have a permanent private address in Hertfordshire, the military base or
alternative “work” address in Hertfordshire will be used for allocation purposes. If
the family already has an established alternative private address, that address will
be used for admission purposes.
Hertfordshire County Council will also consider accepting applications from
children* whose family can evidence intent to return to and/or permanently
reside in Hertfordshire prior to the start of the new academic year. These
applications, if accepted, will be processed from the overseas address until
sufficient evidence is received to show the child is permanently resident in
Hertfordshire. Evidence must be submitted at the time of application.
Evidence submitted after the date for late applications (exact dates tbc) cannot be
taken into account before National Allocation Day. Decisions on these applications
will be made by a panel of senior officers and communicated with parents within
6 weeks of the closing date for applications.
If an applicant owns a property in Hertfordshire but is not living in it, perhaps
because they are working abroad at the time of application, the Hertfordshire
address will not be accepted for the purposes of admission until the child is
resident at that address.
Other children, than those mentioned above, from overseas do not generally have
automatic right of entry to the UK. An application for a school place will not

Agenda Pack Page 73

19

therefore be accepted until they are permanently resident in Hertfordshire. Proof
of residency such as an endorsed passport or entry visa will be required with the
application, in addition to proof of Hertfordshire address, for example a council tax
bill or 12 month rental agreement.
*Children who hold full British Citizen passports (not British Dependent Territories
or British Overseas passports), or have a UK passport describing them as a British
citizen or British subject with the right of abode or are European Economic Area
nationals normally have unrestricted entry to the UK.
Age of Admission and Deferral of Places
Hertfordshire County Council’s policy is that children born on and between 1
September 2015 and 31 August 2016* would normally commence primary school
in Reception in the academic year beginning in September 2020. All Hertfordshire
infant, first and primary schools provide for the full- time admission of all children
offered a place in the Reception year group from the September following their
fourth birthday. If a parent wants a full-time place for their child from September (at
the school at which a place has been offered) then they are entitled to that full-time
place.
Parents can defer the date their child is admitted to school until later in the
same academic year or until the term in which the child reaches compulsory
school age. Summer born children are only able to “defer” entry to Reception
class until the beginning of the final term of the school year for which the offer
was made.
Where parents wish, children can attend part-time until they reach compulsory
school age. Any parents wishing to take up a part-time place or deferred entry
should contact the individual school(s) to discuss their child’s requirements.
*Summer born children (1 st April – 31st August) – Entry to Reception
Legally, a child does not have to be in full-time education until the start of the term
following their fifth birthday. Children born between 1 April 2016 and 31 August
2016 are categorised as “summer born” and if parents/carers do not believe
that their summer born child is ready to join Reception in 2020 they should contact
the home LA, and any own admission authority schools, for guidance before
making an application.
Summer born applications that are delayed for a year (for entry in September
2021) will be processed in exactly the same way as all other reception
applications received at that time; there is no guarantee that a place will be offered
at a child’s preferred school.
If parents wish to delay their application for a Reception place they are advised
to discuss their child’s needs/development with their current early years or
nursery provider. If parents wish their child to remain in their existing nursery
school or class for a further year (rather than moving into the Reception year

Agenda Pack Page 74

20

group) they must let their current school know before the end of the Spring term
in 2020 (before the Easter break).
Children Out of Year Group (except applications for reception from summer
born)
Hertfordshire County Council’s policy is for children to be educated within their
correct chronological year group, with the curriculum differentiated as necessary to
meet the needs of individual children. This is in line with DfE guidance which states
that “in general, children should be educated in their normal age group”.
If parents/carers believe their child(ren) should be educated in a different year
group they should, at the time of application, submit supporting evidence from
relevant professionals working with the child and family stating why the child
must be placed outside their normal age appropriate cohort. DfE guidance makes
clear that “it is reasonable for admission authorities to expect parents to provide
them with information in support of their request – since without it they are
unlikely to be able to make a decision on the basis of the circumstances of the
case”.
For community and voluntary controlled schools, the county council as the relevant
admission authority, through a panel process, will decide whether the application will
be accepted on the basis of the information submitted. The panel make decisions
based upon the circumstances of each case including the view of parents, the
relevant headteacher(s), the child's social, academic and emotional development
and whether the child has been previously educated out of year group. There is
no guarantee that an application will be accepted on this basis. If the application
is not accepted this does not constitute a refusal of a place and there is no right
to an independent statutory appeal. Similarly there is no right of appeal for a
place in a specific year group at a school. The internal management and
organisation of a school, including the placement of pupils in classes, is a matter
for the Headteacher and senior leadership of individual schools.
The governing body of schools responsible for their own admissions (academies,
voluntary aided and foundation schools) are ultimately responsible for making this
decision for applications made to their school.

Nursery Provision
Some schools have a nursery unit or deliver pre-school nursery education.
The admission arrangements detailed in this document do not apply for those
being admitted into any nursery or pre-school provision. The responsibility for
admission into nursery provision lies with the governing body of the school which
offers such provision.
Parents of children who are admitted to a nursery provision at a school must
apply in the normal way for a place at the school if they want their child to

Agenda Pack Page 75

21

transfer to the reception class. Attendance at the nursery or co-located children’s
centre does not guarantee admission to the school.

Appendix B

Proposal 1
Do you agree to the prioritisation of children previously looked after abroad
and subsequently adopted within Rule 2?
Tota
l

Respondee Type
Hertfordshire Parent / Carer

39

Hertfordshire School or Academy

13

Other

3

Other Local Authority

1

Other Parent / Carer

1

Grand Total

57

Do you agree to the proposed change to
the wording and definition of 'Rule 2'?
No
No opinion
Yes
Grand Total

Tota
l
12
8
37
57

Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed change:
Because it is only being changed to accommodate refugees!!
Children who live overseas and are then subsequently adopted should not be given higher precedence over
other school children unless they have a medical condition or disability. Enough parents already ‘game the
system’ who puts genuine Hertfordshire families at a disadvantage or having to travel miles from their nearest
school
Decreasing the PAN at four St Albans' primary schools will have a detrimental impact on the increased social
housing projects currently in operation. Pupil numbers will increase and not decrease with the housing
projects.
I do not agree that a child that has been adopted should fall into this rule. Adopted children should be under
the same rules as all other children that do not qualify under rule 2.
I don't agree that "children previously looked after abroad" should have priority above children who have
grown up in the local area and attended local schools.
Should define the limits of educated abroad or be clearer if there are no limits to this.
The original rule should remain unchanged. 'Exceptional' social/medical reasons has enough scope as it is.
There are not enough places for local children at the school.
There are not enough space in schools for our own children

Agenda Pack Page 76

22

Proposal 2
Do you agree to the proposed changes to the coordinated scheme?
Do you agree to the proposed changes
made to the schemes of coordination for
all Hertfordshire schools in relation to late
applications and the continuing interest
process?
No
No opinion
Yes
Grand Total

Tota
l

2
22
33
57

Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed change:
From what I have read and understood, by doing so renders having and timeframe or deadline for applications
pointless and undermines efforts of those who make submissions in a manner conscious of timeframes.
I don't understand the question, so can't give an informed opinion

Proposal 3
Do you agree to the proposed PAN reductions?
Do you agree to the proposed reduction in Published Admission Number (PAN) at Jenyns First School, from
21 to 15?
No
No opinion/Not in Buntingford, Puckeridge & surrounding areas
Yes
Grand Total
Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed reduction:
As previously stated there are more houses/flats/housing being built around St Albans and therefore more
school places will be required.

Do you agree to the proposed reduction in Published Admission Number (PAN) at Margaret Wix Primary
School, from 60 to 30?
No
No opinion/Not in St Albans, London Colney & surrounding areas including Shenley & Colney Heath
Yes
Grand Total

Agenda Pack Page 77

23

Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed reduction:
As far as I am aware places as schools are becoming less and less which is not ideal as there are more children
attending schools than ever before. Surely we should be increasing school places?
As previously stated there are more houses/flats/housing being built around St Albans and therefore more
school places will be required.
Because the nearest school to margaret wix is over allocated
I feel that instead of reducing the numbers, children that live close to the school should be attending the
school as opposed to going to Garden Fields or Bernards Heath and those schools getting more money and
larger classes and more classes.
It's short sighted. Over the last few years garden fields has grown but there is no need to build extra when you
have a perfectly fantastic school in Margaret Wix.
Parents are overlooking Margaret Wix in favour of nearby schools with a higher Ofsted rating. However, the
higher ratings in some instances were issued 10 years ago and the school not inspected since. It's misguided
selection and the county council should be seeking to educate parents and promote Margaret Wix rather than
reduce numbers there and end up having to build another school in the district. Having experience of
Margaret Wix and another highly rated school nearby, I have found Margaret Wix to be more child centric,
nurturing and as a result the children are more compassionate, confident and motivated to learn compared to
the higher rated school that is driven to produce the statistics to keep up appearances and ensure it's numbers.
Parts of St Albans are already struggling with lack of primary school places. It’s only going to get worse with the
amount of people relocating to St Albans. So I can't see how the PAN for schools in the area should be reduced.
Maybe Margaret Wix isn't getting the applications or isn't that popular because the other nearest school
already has 90 as the PAN - and there isn't the demand in that particular area of St Albans. However, 30 places
shouldn't just be cut from a primary school in St Albans without it being added elsewhere.

Do you agree to the proposed reduction in Published Admission Number (PAN) at Shepherd Primary School,
from 60 to 30?
No
No opinion/Not in Chipperfield, Chorleywood, Croxley Green, Maple Cross, Rickmansworth, Sarratt &
surrounding areas
Yes
Grand Total
Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed reduction:
As previously stated we should be creating school places in Hertfordshire not decreasing them. Although I
don't live in this area - it is only a few miles away and the knock on event of people not getting their local
schools will mean they will start to look further afield.
Do you agree to the proposed reduction in Published Admission Number (PAN) at Holywell Primary
School, from 90 to 60?
No
No opinion/Not in Watford, Abbots Langley, Carpenders Park, South Oxhey including Bedmond,
Northwood & Pinner
Yes
Grand Total

1
49
7
57

Responses from those who do not agree to the proposed reduction:

Agenda Pack Page 78

Total

24

Why are we decreasing the number of school places available rather than decreasing them? My daughter has
been part of a "bulge year" and it was dealt with appallingly - why on earth would be not be increasing places
available???

Appendix C

Extracts from Hertfordshire County Council’s Coordinated Scheme of
Admission for Primary schools.
The proposed new text is in italics below. The same text is proposed for
secondary schools but with amended dates to align with the secondary transfer
process.
Late applications
1.

After on time applications have been dealt with and preferences allocated,
late applications that can be allocated a ranked school will be processed.
Finally, all Hertfordshire children whether on time or late who were not able
to have a preference satisfied through the iterative process will be allocated
a school place.

2.

Applications that are received late (after 15 January but before 16 April (exact
date in April to be specified in admissions information published by 12
September 2019) will be allocated a place on national allocation day (16 April
2020). These applications will then be considered as “on time” for the first run
of continuing interest.

3.

All other late applications will be considered at the second run of continuing
interest

Co-ordination after allocation day (16 April)
4.

The School Admissions Code (page 37 “The Admissions Timeline”) clarifies
that parents must continue to apply to their home local authority for “late”
applications for the normal admissions round (i.e. between 16 April and 31
August for reception places and junior/middle transfer). This will ensure that
places which become available are re-allocated effectively and duplicate
offers are avoided.

5.

By 2 May Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) will request that parents
resident in Hertfordshire accept or decline the offer of a place. Any
information relating to the acceptance or the decline of places will be
forwarded to the relevant maintaining LA. Where such information is received
from parents between 2 May and 31 August HCC will pass it to the
maintaining LA as it is received.

6.

After places have been offered, HCC will maintain c o n t i n u i n g
i n t e r e s t ( CI) lists for all community and voluntary controlled schools.

Agenda Pack Page 79

25

Voluntary aided, foundation schools and academies will maintain their own
lists unless HCC has agreed to manage CI on the school’s behalf. A child’s
position on a CI list will be determined by the admission criteria for the
school concerned. All children with an unsatisfied higher preference will
automatically be placed on CI for any community or voluntary controlled
schools.
7.

All schools in Hertfordshire will continue to fully coordinate admissions
throughout the continuing interest process with all applications and offers
made by the LA. Cooperation between admission authorities will ensure that
each child is offered only one school and that school is the highest preference
that can be offered.

8.

Two county wide coordinated continuing interest “runs” will take place (one in
May and one in June (exact dates tbc).

9.

For the first run of continuing interest schools and academies in Hertfordshire
either:
(a) Reconsider all applications from pupils who were offered a place on 16

April OR
(b) Reconsider all applications from pupils offered a place on 16 April as well

as all late/new applications received prior to the deadline for the first CI
run.
10. At the second run of continuing interest all schools and academies will

consider all late/new applications equally (including those from parents/carers
who did not initially rank the school on the secondary transfer form) alongside
remaining ontime applicants
11. Children wishing to remain on CI after the summer term (date to be

specified) must make an In Year application to retain their ‘continued
interest’ in a place at the relevant school(s).

Agenda Pack Page 80

26

Appendix D

Proposed Primary PANs 2020/21

Town

Determined
village
2019 PAN
including
any local
agreement
(if
different)

Proposed 2020 PAN

HCC
no

DfE No

School

School
Category

776

9192000

Abbots Langley

Community

Abbots Langley

60

60

780

9192147

Tanners Wood JMI

Community

Abbots Langley

60

60

925

9193000

Aldbury C of E Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Aldbury

15

15

240

9192223

Anstey First

Community

Anstey

10

10

51

9192002

Ashwell Primary

Community

Ashwell

30

30

5

9192994

Hartsfield JMI

Community

Baldock

60

60

3

9193004

St Mary's Infant

Voluntary
Controlled

Baldock

60

60

2

9193005

St Mary's JM

Voluntary
Controlled

Baldock

60

60

262

9193007

Bayford (C of E) VC
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Bayford

15

15

194

9193009

Benington C of E
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Benington

16

16

923

9194144

Bridgewater Primary
School

Community

Berkhamsted

60

60

921

9192326

Greenway Primary and
Nursery School

Community

Berkhamsted

30

30

919

9192301

Swing Gate Infant
School and Nursery

Community

Berkhamsted

60

60

918

9192288

Westfield Primary
School and Nursery

Community

Berkhamsted

30

30

216

9192387

Hillmead JMI

Community

Bishop's
Stortford

30

30

219

9192443

Richard Whittington
Primary (The)

Community

Bishop's
Stortford

45

45

211

9192242

Thorley Hill Primary

Community

Bishop's
Stortford

30

30

Agenda Pack Page 81

Comments

27

215

9192327

Thorn Grove Primary

Community

Bishop's
Stortford

30

30

615

9192030

Cowley Hill Primary

Community

Borehamwood

60

60

617

9192155

Kenilworth Primary
School

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

614

9192224

Monksmead

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

620

9192181

Saffron Green Primary

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

613

9192154

Summerswood Primary

Community

Borehamwood

60

60

616

9192153

Woodlands Primary
School

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

826

9192041

Boxmoor Primary

Community

Boxmoor

30

30

231

9192011

Jenyns First School

Community

Braughing

21

15

61

9192064

Breachwood Green JMI

Community

Breachwood
Green

15

15

232

9193011

Layston C of E First

Voluntary
Controlled

Buntingford

30

30

230

9192386

Millfield First & Nursery
School

Community

Buntingford

60

60

675

9193012

Ashfield Junior

Voluntary
Controlled

Bushey

60

60

683

9192360

Bournehall JMI

Community

Bushey

30

30

736

9192117

Bushey & Oxhey Infant

Community

Bushey

60

60

677

9192261

Bushey Manor Junior

Community

Bushey

60

60

679

9192013

Highwood Primary

Community

Bushey

60

60

676

9192014

Merry Hill Infant &
Nursery

Community

Bushey

60

60

678

9192012

Bushey Heath Primary

Community

Bushey Heath

30

30

774

9192131

St Meryl JMI

Community

Carpenders
Park

30

30

372

9192375

Andrew's Lane Primary

Community

Cheshunt

30

30

363

9192467

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

366

9192317

Community

Cheshunt

90

90

365

9192250

Brookland Junior

Community

Cheshunt

90

90

360

9192468

Burleigh Primary

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

359

9193053

Dewhurst St Mary C of
E Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Cheshunt

30

30

367

9192289

Downfield JMI

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

Bonneygrove County
Primary
Brookland Infant and
Nursery

Agenda Pack Page 82

Proposed
PAN
reduction.

28

377

9192424

Fairfields Primary &
Nursery

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

354

9192997

Millbrook

Community

Cheshunt

30

30

686

9192019

Chorleywood Primary

Community

Chorleywood

30

30

689

9192025

Russell (The)

Community

Chorleywood

30

30

54

9193013

Codicote C of E Primary
VC

Voluntary
Controlled

Codicote

30

30

454

9192102

Colney Heath JMI

Community

Colney Heath

30

30

694

9192082

Harvey Road Primary

Community

Croxley Green

30

30

696

9192083

Little Green Junior

Community

Croxley Green

90

90

697

9192084

Malvern Way Infant &
Nursery

Community

Croxley Green

90

90

695

9192079

Yorke Mead Primary

Community

Croxley Green

60

60

319

9193032

Little Munden CE
Voluntary Controlled
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Dane End

15

15

560

9193015

Essendon C.of E. VC
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Essendon

15

15

908

9192031

Flamstead

Community

Flamstead

15

15

237

9193016

Furneux Pelham C of E

Voluntary
Controlled

Furneux
Pelham

20

20

905

9192032

Gaddesden Row JMI

Community

Gaddesden
Row

8

8

713

9192433

Coates Way JMI and
Nursery

Community

Garston

30

30

755

9192395

Kingsway Infant

Community

Garston

60

60

734

9192133

Kingsway Junior

Community

Garston

60

60

355

9192263

Goffs Oak Junior Mixed
Infants and Nursery
School

Community

Goffs Oak

30

30

374

9192401

Woodside Primary

Community

Goffs Oak

30

30

196

9193018

Graveley Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Graveley

16

16

Agenda Pack Page 83

29

157

9192365

Round Diamond
Primary

Community

Great Ashby

60

60

492

9192336

Grove Infant & Nursery
(The)

Community

Harpenden

90

90

491

9192299

Grove Junior (The)

Community

Harpenden

90

90

487

9192437

High Beeches Primary

Community

Harpenden

60

60

484

9192412

Lea Primary (The)

Community

Harpenden

30

30

485

9192034

Manland Primary

Community

Harpenden

30

30

490

9192203

Roundwood Primary

Community

Harpenden

45

45

488

9192033

Sauncey Wood Primary

Community

Harpenden

30

30

493

9192457

Wood End School

Community

Harpenden

60

60

575

9192007

Birchwood Avenue
Primary

Community

Hatfield

30

30

581

9193982

De Havilland Primary

Community

Hatfield

60

60

571

9192039

Green Lanes Primary

Community

Hatfield

60

60

579

9192225

Howe Dell Primary

Community

Hatfield

60

60

585

9193989

Oak View Primary &
Nursery

Community

Hatfield

60

60

577

9192391

Ryde (The)

Community

Hatfield

30

30

867

9192426

Aycliffe Drive Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

45

45

832

9192466

Belswains Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

872

9192448

Brockswood Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

840

9192193

Chaulden Infants' and
Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

50

50

855

9192274

Gade Valley JMI and
Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

859

9193990

Galley Hill Primary and
Nursery School

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 84

30

825

9192040

George Street Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

836

9192469

Hobbs Hill Wood
Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

835

9192184

Hobletts Manor Infant &
Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

834

9192023

Hobletts Manor Junior

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

869

9192995

Holtsmere End Infant
and Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

868

9192427

Holtsmere End Junior

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

864

9193987

Maple Grove Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

844

9192243

Micklem Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

857

9192293

Pixies Hill JMI

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

846

9192251

Reddings Primary (The)

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

833

9192047

South Hill Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

829

9192045

Tudor JMI & Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

828

9192044

Two Waters Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

863

9193988

Yewtree Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

249

9192050

Abel Smith

Community

Hertford

30

30

252

9192462

Bengeo Primary

Community

Hertford

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 85

31

254

9193025

Hertford St Andrews
Cof E Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Hertford

30

30

258

9192304

Hollybush Primary

Community

Hertford

30

30

259

9192362

Mill Mead

Community

Hertford

30

30

256

9192464

Morgans JMI

Community

Hertford

60

60

261

9192414

Wheatcroft Primary

Community

Hertford

45

45

267

9192072

Hertford Heath JMI

Community

Hertford Heath

30

30

56

9192053

Hexton JMI

Community

Hexton

10

10

234

9193026

Voluntary
Controlled

High Wych

30

30

37

9192055

High Wych C of E
Primary
Highbury Infant School
& Nursery

Community

Hitchin

60

60

38

9192057

Highover JMI

Community

Hitchin

60

60

48

9192415

Mary Exton JMI

Community

Hitchin

30

30

43

9192026

Oughton Primary and
Nursery School

Community

Hitchin

30

30

42

9192229

Purwell Primary

Community

Hitchin

30

30

35

9192428

Samuel Lucas JMI

Community

Hitchin

60

60

40

9192056

Strathmore Infant and
Nursery

Community

Hitchin

60

60

46

9192287

Whitehill Junior

Community

Hitchin

60

60

47

9192392

William Ransom
Primary (The)

Community

Hitchin

60

60

292

9192339

Forres Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

60

60

290

9192452

Sheredes Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

60

60

285

9193978

Voluntary
Controlled

Hoddesdon

60

60

288

9192314

St Catherine's VC CE
Primary
Westfield Community
Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

30

30

318

9192061

Hunsdon JMI

Community

Hunsdon

15

15

58

9193030

Ickleford Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Ickleford

30

30

60

9192062

Kimpton Primary

Community

Kimpton

30

30

910

9192338

Kings Langley Primary

Community

Kings Langley

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 86

32

197

9192066

Knebworth Primary

Community

Knebworth

60

60

740

9192407

Leavesden JMI School

Community

Leavesden

60

60

17

9192069

Community

Letchworth

60

60

20

9192165

Community

Letchworth

90

90

14

9192416

Lordship Farm Primary

Community

Letchworth

60

60

22

9192228

Northfields Infant &
Nursery

Community

Letchworth

60

60

16

9192300

Pixmore Junior

Community

Letchworth

60

60

8

9192442

Stonehill

Community

Letchworth

30

30

853

9193054

Leverstock Green C of
E Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Leverstock
Green

30

30

239

9192073

Little Hadham Primary

Community

Little Hadham

20

20

72

9192146

Wymondley JMI

Community

Little
Wymondley

15

15

453

9192166

Bowmansgreen Primary

Community

London Colney

60

60

452

9192103

London Colney JMI

Community

London Colney

30

30

907

9192074

Markyate Village School
& Nursery

Community

Markyate

45

45

562

9193020

Ponsbourne St Mary's
C of E VC Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Newgate Street

13

13

703

9192266

Eastbury Farm JMI &
Nursery

Community

Northwood

45

45

466

9192252

How Wood Primary

Community

Park Street

30

30

65

9192077

Pirton School

Community

Pirton

21

21

926

9193049

Potten End C of E
Primary School

Voluntary
Controlled

Potten End

30

30

661

9192982

Ladbrooke JMI

Community

Potters Bar

30

30

657

9192985

Oakmere Primary

Community

Potters Bar

60

60

66

9193034

Preston Primary (VC)

Voluntary
Controlled

Preston

15

15

322

9193039

Roger de Clare C of E
(V C) First and Nursery

Voluntary
Controlled

Puckeridge

60

60

Hillshott Infant School &
Nursery
Icknield Infant and
Nursery

Agenda Pack Page 87

33

789

9192378

Community
Voluntary
Controlled
Community

Radlett

30

30

Radlett

60

60

9192253

Newberries Primary
St John's C of E Infant
and Nursery
Redbourn Primary

785

9193003

451

Redbourn

60

60

67

9192078

Reed First

Community

Reed

12

12

699

9192022

Shepherd JMI and
Nursey

Community

Rickmansworth

60

30

707

9192348

Arnett Hills JMI

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

706

9192308

Maple Cross JMI

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

708

9192379

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

82

9192331

Community

Royston

60

60

86

9192421

Roman Way First

Community

Royston

60

60

85

9192417

Studlands Rise First

Community

Royston

30

30

83

9192085

Tannery Drift

Community

Royston

60

60

69

9192105

Sandon JMI

Community

Sandon

15

15

458

9192106

Sandridge School

Community

Sandridge

30

30

787

9193037

Sarratt C of E

Voluntary
Controlled

Sarratt

26

26

222

9192107

Fawbert & Barnard
Infant's

Community

Sawbridgeworth

60

60

221

9192380

Mandeville Primary

Community

Sawbridgeworth

30

30

224

9192333

Reedings Junior

Community

Sawbridgeworth

60

60

611

9192108

Shenley Primary

Community

Shenley

45

45

773

9192177

Greenfields JMI &
Nursery

Community

South Oxhey

30

30

768

9192178

Woodhall School

Community

South Oxhey

30

30

223

9193038

Spellbrook Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Spellbrook

15

15

431

9192168

Margaret Wix Primary

Community

St Albans

60

30

423

9192098

Aboyne Lodge

Community

St Albans

30

30

417

9192090

Bernards Heath Infant

Community

St Albans

90

90

416

9192100

Bernards Heath Junior

Community

St Albans

90

90

Rickmansworth Park
JMI
Icknield Walk First
School

Agenda Pack Page 88

Proposed
PAN
reduction

Proposed
PAN
reduction

34

418

9192091

Camp Primary and
Nursery

Community

St Albans

30

30

437

9192332

Cunningham Hill Infant

Community

St Albans

60

60

436

9192280

Cunningham Hill JM

Community

St Albans

60

60

422

9192095

Garden Fields JMI

Community

St Albans

90

90

455

9193992

Killigrew Primary and
Nursery

Community

St Albans

60

60

438

9192364

Maple School

Community

St Albans

30

30

434

9192227

Oakwood Primary

Community

St Albans

45

45

440

9192393

Prae Wood Primary

Community

St Albans

60

60

462

9192258

Skyswood Primary

Community

St Albans

30

30

426

9192096

St Peter's

Community

St Albans

30

30

464

9192311

Wheatfields Infants'

Community

St Albans

90

90

463

9192206

Wheatfields JM

Community

St Albans

90

90

435

9192219

Windermere JMI

Community

St Albans

30

30

323

9193040

St Andrew's C of E (V
C) Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Stanstead
Abbotts

30

30

121

9192226

Almond Hill Junior

Community

Stevenage

90

90

145

9192451

Ashtree Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

127

9192188

Bedwell Primary

Community

Stevenage

45

45

135

9192005

Featherstone Wood
Primary School and
Nursery

Community

Stevenage

30

30

159

9192381

Giles Junior

Community

Stevenage

90

90

Agenda Pack Page 89

35

160

9192394

Giles Nursery and
Infant's School

Community

Stevenage

90

90

122

9192109

Letchmore Infants' and
Nursery School

Community

Stevenage

90

90

162

9192465

Leys Primary & Nursery
School (The)

Community

Stevenage

75

75

141

9192008

Lodge Farm Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

137

9193983

Longmeadow Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

155

9192341

Martins Wood Primary

Community

Stevenage

90

90

150

9192312

Moss Bury Primary
School & Nursery

Community

Stevenage

45

45

146

9193984

Shephalbury Park
Primary

Community

Stevenage

30

30

154

9192353

Trotts Hill Primary and
Nursery

Community

Stevenage

30

30

164

9192406

Woolenwick Infant

Community

Stevenage

60

60

161

9192405

Woolenwick JM

Community

Stevenage

60

60

70

9192111

Therfield First

Community

Therfield

11

11

324

9193041

Thundridge C of E
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Thundridge

15

15

263

9193008

Tonwell St Mary's C of
E Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Tonwell

8

8

940

9192343

Community

Tring

30

30

939

9192322

Community

Tring

60

60

375

9192411

Community

Turnford

30

30

198

9192114

Walkern Primary

Community

Walkern

25

25

350

9192017

Four Swannes Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

30

30

Dundale Primary &
Nursery
Goldfield Infants' and
Nursery
Longlands Primary
School & Nursery

Agenda Pack Page 90

36

358

9192016

Holdbrook Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

30

30

353

9192151

Hurst Drive Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

60

60

311

9192397

Kingshill Infant

Community

Ware

60

60

310

9192316

Priors Wood Primary

Community

Ware

30

30

307

9193043

60

60

9193042

Voluntary
Controlled
Voluntary
Controlled

Ware

306

St Catherine's (C of E)
Primary
St Mary's (VC) C of E
Junior

Ware

60

60

309

9192323

Tower Primary

Community

Ware

30

30

325

9193045

Wareside C of E
Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Wareside

8

8

749

9192349

Holywell JMI

Community

Watford

90

60

730

9192123

Field JM

Community

Watford

60 (90)

60

742

9192354

Cassiobury Infant &
Nursery

Community

Watford

90

90

741

9192132

Cassiobury JM

Community

Watford

90

90

725

9192116

Central Primary

Community

Watford

60

60

729

9192122

Chater Infant

Community

Watford

60

60

728

9192120

Chater Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

735

9192130

Knutsford Primary

Community

Watford

60

60

761

9192991

Nascot Wood Infant &
Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

756

9192389

Nascot Wood Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

738

9192126

Parkgate Infants &
Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

737

9192125

Parkgate Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

731

9192124

Watford Field Infant and
Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

270

9192139

Watton-at-Stone
Primary and Nursery

Community

Watton at
Stone

30

30

506

9192302

Oaklands Primary

Community

Welwyn

30

30

60

60

60

60

30

30

529

9192996

531

9192240

532

9192237

Commonswood
Creswick JMI and
Nursery
Harwood Hill JMI &
Nursery

Community
Community
Community

Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City

Agenda Pack Page 91

Proposed
PAN
reduction

37

520

9192143

Holwell Primary

Community

535

9192283

Homerswood Primary

Community

540

9192356

Panshanger Primary

Community

523

9192140

Peartree Primary

Community

525

9192027

Swallow Dell Primary

Community

524

9192142

Templewood Primary

Community

543

9192446

Watchlytes

Community

71

9193047

Weston Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

68

9192101

St Paul's Walden
Primary

326

9192145

281

9193029

Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City

60

60

30

30

30

30

30

30

60

60

30

30

30

30

Weston

20

20

Community

Whitwell

15

15

Widford School

Community

Widford

8

8

Wormley Primary

Voluntary
Controlled

Wormley

60

60

Proposed Secondary PANS 2020/21
DeterminedProposed
2019 PAN2020 PAN
DfE
No

No

School

Town/village

School type

225

Edwinstree C of E
Middle

Buntingford

VC

106

Barclay (The)

Stevenage

112

Marriotts

Stevenage

Primary /
Secondary

Middle

112

112

Community

Secondary

196

196

Community

Secondary

240

240

Agenda Pack Page 92

38

Agenda Item
No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

7

EDUCATION, LIBRARIES & LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 10:00AM
ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES: PROPOSED PRIMARY SCHOOL
EXPANSION (CODICOTE); SECONDARY EXPANSION IN WATFORD;
ADDITIONAL ACCOMODATION IN ST. ALBANS AND THE APPLICATION
OF S106 FUNDS
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Report Author:

Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning
Tel: 01992 555865

Executive Member: Terry Douris (Education, Libraries & Localism)
Local members:

Nigel Bell (West Watford); Annie Brewster (Harpenden
Rural); Sue Featherstone (St Stephen’s); Stephen GilesMedhurst (Central Watford and Oxhey); Dreda Gordon
(London Colney); John Hale (Colney Heath and
Marshalswick); Kareen Hastrick (Meriden Tudor); Teresa
Heritage (Harpenden South West); Jeff Jones
(Buntingford); Asif Khan (North Watford); Roma Mills (St
Albans North); Anthony Rowlands (St Albans East);
Richard Thake (Knebworth and Codicote); Sandy
Walkington (St Albans South); Mark Watkin (Nascot
Park); Chris White (St Albans Central); David Williams
(Harpenden North East); Tim Williams (Woodside
Stanborough).

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To update and seek the comments of Panel on a number of issues
related to primary and secondary additional school place proposals.

2.

Summary

2.1

The proposed primary expansion requirement for September 2020
(PEP9) is set out in this report and for which the Director of Childrens
Services is intending to go out to conusltation.

2.2

Approval is sought for one secondary expansion in Watford and one
additional secondary accommodation scheme in St. Albans.

2.3

Funding for temporary accommodation for September 2019 is also
sought as well as approval to the application of S106 funds to support
school expansion projects.

Agenda Pack Page 93

3.

Recommendations

3.1

Panel is to requested to note:
(i)

the Director of Children’s Services’s decision to consult on the
proposed permanent expansion by 1.0 f.e. of the premises of
Codictote Primary School, from September 2020

(ii)

the current estimated cost of that expansion project, details of
which are contained in the accompanying Part II report;

and
to recommend to Cabinet that it agrees:

4.

(iii)

that the County Council enter into funding agreements with the
secondary schools identified in sections 5 and 6 of the report, on
terms to be agreed by the Director of Resources in consultation
with the Director of Children’s Services and the Executive
Member for Resources and Performance and the Executive
Members for Chidlren’s Services;

(iv)

£2.0m additional funds for temporary expansions for September
2019, where required, the amount of any such funding for any
school to be determined by the Director of Resources.

(v)

the application of S106 funds identified in Appendix A.

Background
Primary

4.1

This report informs the Panel of the next programme of primary school
expansions and the Director of Children’s Services intention to consult
on the expansion of Codicote Primary School, by 1fe.
Primary Expansion Programme for September 2020 (PEP9)

4.2

Work has been undertaken to identify where expansions are required
for 2020. The demand for primary school places county-wide is
forecast to have reached its peak and therefore the requirement for
permanent expansion continues to be lower than in previous years. For
2020 only one permanent expansion is considered necessary.

4.3

Codicote C of E Primary is 1 form of entry (1 f.e.) and the only school
serving Codicote village. There has been a need in past years to make
additional places temporarily available to accommodate all pupils in the
village (the next nearest schools are in other villages over the statutory
walking distance) but this is no longer possible on site.

Agenda Pack Page 94

4.4

An ongoing deficit of places is forecast, with a peak of 0.3 f.e. in
2021/22.
Summer 2018/19 Forecast
Number of reception places
available
Demand
Surplus/Shortage
% Surplus/Shortage
No of FE

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
30

30

30

30

35
-5
-16.7%
-0.2

35
-5
-16.7%
-0.2

37
-7
-23.3%
-0.2

40
-10
-33.3%
-0.3

4.5

In addition, there are 315 new dwellings proposed over four sites within
the North Herts District Council (NHDC) Local Plan which will result in a
demand for around 0.6 f.e. of school places in the village (using the
strategic plan methodology of 1FE:500 homes).

4.6

A planning application for the first site has already been submitted to
NHDC, which will provide the opportunity for additional land to support
an extension of the school. Subject to the grant of permission and
necessary s106 agreements being in place, the transfer of the land
could take place in autumn 2019, with construction on site for the new
homes to commence towards the end of 2019/early 2020.

4.7

Combined with the existing unmet demand in the village there is
therefore a need to plan for an additional 1 f.e. of capacity, to be
implemented from 2020 to cater for existing and future demand for
places from the village. Developer contributions will be expected to pay
towards the cost of the expansion. Proportionate s106 contributions
will be sought from the following four developments in the village:

4.8



CD1 – Land south of Cowards Lane



CD2 – Codicote Garden Centre, High Street



CD3 – Land north east of The Close



CD5 – Land south of Heath Lane

The Director of Children’s Services is seeking Panel’s views on the
decision to consult on the following proposal to expand the premises of
the relevant school, which requires a statutory process.
Area

Codicote

School
name

Codicote

Expansion by
form of entry
(f.e.)
1.0 f.e.
(1 to 2 f.e.)

Increase
in
admission
number*

Year

30

2020

Agenda Pack Page 95

* however, admission numbers will increase gradually to align with local
need as it emerges.
4.9

The school is aware of the potential expansion and the Local Members
have been informed.
Next steps

4.10

The timetable of future action in relation to the proposal on which the
County Council is consulting would be:
Public consultation
Panel (to receive the outcome of
the consultation)?
Cabinet (to approve the
publication of statutory notices
and capital cost)
Statutory Notice period
Cabinet (for final approval if
objections received)
Implementation

15 Feb – 4 April 2019
10 May 2019
13 May 2019
w/c 14 May -10 June 2019
8 July 2019
September 2020

4.11

Planning permission will also be required. Should the proposal reach
the final approval stage it will be conditional upon the receipt of town
planning permission.

4.12

Admissions to the school will be aligned to the immediate need for local
places and as and when the developments come on stream.

5.

Secondary
Secondary Expansion Programme (SEC3)

5.1

In September 2014, Watford University Technical College (WUTC)
opened and now offers 150 places in each school year to students
aged 14-19, specialising in event management, hospitality and
computer science.

5.2

WUTC is currently consulting on proposals to change its age range to
become an 11-18 (secondary) school. The proposals would see 90
children admitted at Year 7, creating an additional 3f.e. permanent
secondary school capacity.

5.3

The layout of the school’s current accommodation is not suitable for
teaching pupils in Key Stage 3 (KS3). The proposal to increase the
school’s age range will require an adjustment of its core curriculum to
include humanities and the arts. The school has plans for a scheme
that facilitates a KS3 intake, by remodelling areas which were
previously open plan learning environments.

Agenda Pack Page 96

5.4

The proposal would need capital and revenue funding to be viable.
The DfE has indicated it would provide revenue support during the
transition between 14-19 UTC and 11-18 secondary, if the County
Council provides capital funding to enable the school to remodel its
existing accommodation.

5.5

The DfE will determine the proposal once WUTC’s consultation
process is complete and a decision has been reached on whether the
County Council will provide capital funding for the scheme.

5.6

An extract from the latest forecast showing the position across Watford,
Bushey and Rickmansworth – collectively referred to as south-west
Hertfordshire (SW Herts) - is shown below. There is a deficit of places
forecast. Creating additional secondary places through an expansion of
WUTC’s age range would form part of the County Council’s strategy to
meet rising demand across the south-west.
Combined South West Herts
Forecast
No of places
available 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
Total Year 7 Pupil Demand
Total Year 7 Places Available
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (No.)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (%)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (FE)

2,923

2868

2982

2962

3020

3136

3110

3061

3049

3131

3148

2,923
55
1.9%
1.8

2,923
-59
-2.0%
-2.0

2,923
-39
-1.3%
-1.3

2,923
-97
-3.3%
-3.2

2,923
-213
-7.3%
-7.1

2,923
-187
-6.4%
-6.2

2,923
-138
-4.7%
-4.6

2,923
-126
-4.3%
-4.2

2,923
-208
-7.1%
-6.9

2,923
-225
-7.7%
-7.5

6.

Other requirements

6.1

In addition to the proposed schemes above, additional accommodation
is required at one secondary school in order to enable it to retain its
PAN (without which expansion would need to be made and funded
elsewhere).
The Marlborough Science Academy, St. Albans

6.2

Marlborough has a published admission number of 212. In recent years
the school has been operating below theoretical capacity due to
smaller cohorts. Pupil numbers are expected to rise in coming years as
cohorts leaving the school will be smaller than new intakes.
St Albans
Forecast
No of places
available 2018-19 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
Total Year 7 Pupil Demand
Total Year 7 Places Available
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (No.)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (%)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (FE)

6.4

1,758

1698

1805

1807

1815

1868

1937

1871

1808

1870

1857

1,758
60

1,758
-47

1,758
-49

1,758
-57

1,758
-110

1,758
-179

1,758
-113

1,758
-50

1,758
-112

1,758
-99

3.4%

-2.7%

-2.8%

-3.2%

-6.3%

-10.2%

-6.4%

-2.8%

-6.4%

-5.6%

2.0

-1.6

-1.6

-1.9

-3.7

-6.0

-3.8

-1.7

-3.7

-3.3

The school has a number of significant accommodation deficiencies. It
secured funding to partially address these and has recently constructed

Agenda Pack Page 97

a new building, which will provide sixth-form space, a music room,
business/ICT room and additional general teaching spaces.
6.5

However, this will still leave the school with a deficit in general teaching
and science. Addressing these deficits would ensure the school will
continue to be able to accommodate its current intake of 212 pupils,
without which additional places would be required in other schools.

6.6

The estimated cost is contained within the Part II report. The school is
an academy and will deliver the project itself. Authority is therefore
sought to enter into a funding agreement with the Academy.
Temporary accommodation requirements for 2019

6.7

Additional funding is likely to be required to meet a number of primary
and secondary temporary accommodation for September 2019, based
on latest forecasts.

7.

Financial implications
Revenue funding

7.1

Revenue funding has been made available to support the feasibility
work for the school expansion programmes. There are no further
revenue implications for the county council as a result of these
proposals. The schools’ budget shares currently derived from the
Dedicated Schools Grant will increase in proportion to the number of
additional places.
Capital funding

7.2

The accompanying Part II sets out the full capital costs of the schemes
outlined above.
Primary expansion

7.3

The early estimated cost of the proposed PEP9 permanent expansion
scheme is included in the accompanying Part II report.
Acknowledgement only of the potential cost is sought at this point.
Cost approval will be sought in May 2019 when Panel and Cabinet is
asked to consider the outcome of public consultation on the statutory
proposal and decide whether or not to approve the publication of a
statutory notice.
Secondary expansion, additional and temporary accommodation
and S106.

7.4

Approval is sought for £4.84m for the secondary expansion and the
additional accommodation scheme at Marlborough; and £2m for any
temporary accommodation which may be required for September 2019.

Agenda Pack Page 98

7.5

Additional funds are available to support the provision of new school
places in relation to the pupil yield from new housing, via developers’
contributions under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended. Funds able to be applied to previous school expansion
projects and at a total of c.£3.489m are included in Appendix A.
Approval is therefore sought to the application of s106 funds identified
in Appendix A is requested.
Summary financial position

7.6

The updated summary financial position is shown below. This takes
into account funds available from grants received to date, approved
section 106, less existing commitments, and the proposals for approval
as set out above.
Funds currently available up to 2020/21:

£40.344m

S106 funds to be approved

£3.489m

Sub total:

£43.833m

Less
proposed cost of SEC3 and additional
accommodation proposals:

£4.84m

Cost of temporary accommodation for 2019

£2.0m

Sub total

£6.84m

Allocation remaining

£36.993m

7.7

The allocation remaining will be required for PEP10 any newly
emerging primary needs for 2020/21 and secondary needs from 2021
onwards.

7.8

The allocation remaining is likely to change with any further basic need
allocation for 2021/22 (which is due in early 2019) and any future
approvals to the application of new and existing S106 funds.

7.9

Costs have been assessed on the current market conditions.

8.

Equalities Implications

8.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that
they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the
Equality implications of the decision that they are making.

Agenda Pack Page 99

8.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

8.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity;
race; religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.4

Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs) have been carried out where
necessary on all proposals contained within this report and are
attached at Appendix B1. The EqIAs will be reviewed and updated as
part of any future public consultation. Consideration has been given to
the likely impact of the proposals, and current assessments conclude
that it is not anticipated that people with protected characteristics will
be affected disproportionately.

8.5

The Local Authority and Own Admitting Authorities (i.e. academies) are
bound by the Admissions Code and Regulations and this does not
allow for any discrimination in this respect.

8.6

The expansion of school premises and the provision of additional
accommodation will enable additional school places to be made
available or maintained as close as possible to the demand for them.
In that way they will improve access to school places to all sectors of
the communities in which they are located, and avoid very young
children having to travel longer distances to access education.

8.7

The expansion of existing schools provides for enhanced education
opportunities and an enriched curriculum offer which has a positive
impact on the whole school community.

8.8

School expansion schemes provide positive impacts, offering the
opportunity for improved facilities for disabled access in new buildings.
Background Information
None

1

https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=208&MId=1235

Agenda Pack Page 100

Appendix A

District
Dacorum
Dacorum
Dacorum
Dacorum
DACORUM
TOTAL
Hertsmere
HERTSMERE
TOTAL

Development address
Land between Westwick Row
and Pancake Lane
Former Sappi site
10-12 Queensway
175 -189 London Road
Land between Westwick Row
and Pancake Lane
125-127 High Road

Hitchin Hospital

North Hertfordshire

North Hertfordshire College
Probyn House, land between
Lloyd Way and Coopers Close

St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
St Albans
ST ALBANS
TOTAL
Stevenage
Stevenage

Belswains
Belswains
Hemel Hempstead
Hemel Hempstead

Primary

Lea Industrial Estate
Unit B, Lea Industrial Estate,
Ox Lane
The Glen Eagle Hotel 1 Luton
Road
Land Rear Of 39 To 49
Crabtree Lane
Blundell Close Garages,
Blundell Close
Partridge Road Garages,
Partridge Road
Ladies Grove Garages, Ladies
Grove
Former Jane Campbell House
Ladies Grove Garages, Ladies
Grove
Former Evershed Print Works
Alma Road
Rear of 67 St Peters Street
Oaklands College City
Campus, Hatfield Road
Oaklands College City
Campus, Site C

£233.65
£97.56
£53,772.61

£53,772.61

£164,774.73

£54,103.82
£6,782.76

£218,878.55
£6,782.76

£0.00

£6,782.76

£6,782.76

£98,101.27

£98,101.27

£67,694.13

£67,694.13

£26,689.04

£26,689.04

Beaumont

£192,484.44
£2,066.35

£192,484.44
£2,066.35

Beaumont

£7,941.77

£7,941.77

Beaumont

£9,377.03

£9,377.03

£25,289.00

£25,289.00

£22,746.24

£22,746.24

£29,085.55

£29,085.55

£37,608.14

£37,608.14

£39,059.43

£39,059.43

£52,735.57

£52,735.57

£2,169.60

£2,169.60

£5,125.68

£5,125.68

£713.33

£713.33

£61,162.40

£61,162.40

Hemel Hempstead

Hitchin Boys'
School
Hitchin Girls'
School
Katherine
Warington School

Beaumont
Katherine
Warington School
Katherine
Warington School
Katherine
Warington School
Katherine
Warington School
Katherine
Warington School
St Albans Girls
School
St Albans Girls
School
St Albans Girls
School
St Albans Girls
School
St Michael's

£3,141.60

£3,141.60

St Peters
St Peters

£6,840.52
£4,194.00

£6,840.52
£4,194.00

St Peters

£20,013.62

£20,013.62

St Peters

£24,051.00

£24,051.00

£58,240.74
Brickdale House
The Twin Foxes, 54
Rockingham Way

Grand Total
£104,978.01
£59,796.72
£233.65
£97.56

£0.00
The Gym Ellis House
Former Evershed Print Works
Alma Road
Oaklands College City
Campus, Hatfield Road
Oaklands College City
Campus, Site C
1-8 Reed Place Bloomfield
Road

Secondary

£104,978.01
£59,796.72

Bushey Meads

North Hertfordshire

North Hertfordshire
NORTH HERTS
TOTAL
St Albans

Recommended
school

Almond Hill Junior
School
Almond Hill Junior
School

£295,080.09

£353,320.83

£6,009.27

£6,009.27

£8,067.00

£8,067.00

Agenda Pack Page 101

Stevenage

Fishers Green Road

Stevenage

Vardon Rd / Meredith Road
The Former Van Hage Garden
Company

Stevenage
STEVENAGE
TOTAL

Former Roche Buildings

Welwyn Hatfield

The Hyde, Hollybush Lane

Welwyn Hatfield

Welwyn Car Repairs Ltd

Welwyn Hatfield

Former Parkway School

Welwyn Hatfield

82 Bridge Road East,

Welwyn Hatfield

QE II Hospital 1st phase

Welwyn Hatfield
WELWYN
HATFIELD TOTAL

QE II Hospital 2nd phase

Land adj to London Road
(First)
Land adj to London Road
(Nursery)
Land at Former Sainsburys
Distribution Depot (Childcare)

East Hertfordshire
East Hertfordshire

Land at Former Sainsburys
Distribution Depot (First
feasibility)

East Hertfordshire

Land at Former Sainsburys
Distribution Depot (First)
Land North of Hare Street
Road (First)
Land north of the Park Farm
Industrial Estate (Childcare)

East Hertfordshire
East Hertfordshire
East Hertfordshire

Land north of the Park Farm
Industrial Estate (First)
Land North of the Park Farm
Industrial Estate (Nursery additional facilities)
Land north of the Park Farm
Industrial Estate (Nursery)

East Hertfordshire
Land off Longmead (Nursery)
East Hertfordshire
Land off Tylers Close (Nursery)
East Hertfordshire
Land south of Hare Street
Road (First)
East Hertfordshire

£134,317.89

£89,156.92

£89,156.92

£14,244.05

£14,244.05

Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
Stanborough
School
£0.00

East Hertfordshire

East Hertfordshire

£134,317.89

£251,795.13

Welwyn Hatfield

East Hertfordshire

Fairlands Primary
School
Giles Infants
School
Roebuck Primary
School

New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School
New 2fe
Buntingford
School

First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First
First

EAST
HERTFORDSHIRE
TOTAL

Agenda Pack Page 102

£251,795.13

£6,046.00

£6,046.00

£11,298.17

£11,298.17

£22,229.48

£22,229.48

£25,756.34

£25,756.34

£53,656.53

£53,656.53

£216,275.54

£216,275.54

£217,232.52

£217,232.52

£552,494.58

£552,494.58

£272,856.00
£50,521.00

£272,856.00
£50,521.00

£13,271.03

£13,271.03

£12,285.71

£12,285.71

£172,192.89

£172,192.89

£437,591.05
£38,226.88

£437,591.05
£38,226.88

£520,686.88

£520,686.88

£7,804.46

£7,804.46

£95,697.76

£95,697.76

£12,762.51

£12,762.51

£19,659.70

£19,659.70

£260,123.49

£260,123.49

£1,913,679.36
£2,388,489.96

GRAND TOTAL

£0.00

£1,100,945.69

£1,913,679.36
£3,489,435.65

Agenda Pack Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Agenda Pack Page 105

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Education strategy for the delivery of additional primary school places to serve
the existing community and the new community arising from the new housing
developments in Codicote, through the enlargement of the premises of
Codicote C of E VC Primary School from 1FE to 2FE from September 2020

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Tom Stacey, Alice Bearton

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

School Planning Team

Lead officer contact details

Alice Bearton, 01992 555725
The County Council has a legal duty to ensure sufficient school places to meet
the needs of existing and new communities.

Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

There are 315 new dwellings proposed over four housing sites in Codicote,
which will result in a demand for around 0.6FE of school places in the village.
Combined with the existing level of unmet demand in the village this
demonstrates a need to plan for an additional 1FE of capacity to cater for
existing and future demand.
The increase in the intake of the school will be increased to meet local demand
and will permanently increase to 2FE as and when the full demand can be
demonstrated (this being dependent upon the timing of the new housing).
To identify the impact of the proposed permanent enlargement of the premises
of Codicote C of E VC Primary School, Meadow Way, Codicote, SG4 8YL from
1FE to 2FE from September 2020.

Stakeholders

It is intended that a seven week consultation will begin on 15 February 2019
and will run until 4 April 2019.
Consultation letters will be provided to staff, parents, pupils and governing
bodies of the affected schools and local residents and other key stakeholders,
1

including neighbouring local authorities, MP’s, local members, parish councils,
local schools and nurseries, the Roman Catholic and Church of England
Dioceses, community groups and relevant staff at Hertfordshire County Council.
Local libraries and other selected public places will be invited to display
consultation documents and they will also available on the Hertfordshire County
Council website, Hertfordshire.gov.uk. The consultation documents will also be
made available in other formats on request, including large print, braille and
other languages upon request.

Agenda Pack Page 106

At the conclusion of the consultation all responses will be carefully considered
and any pertinent issues that have been raised that may impact any of the
protected characteristics considered as part of this EqIA will be taken in to
consideration.
Stakeholders:
Parents/carers/pupils, staff and governors at the school concerned;
Residents local to the school concerned;
Local Pre-Schools, Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Special schools;
MPs, County Councillors, District Councillors, Parish and Town
Councils and Local Authority Chief Executives;
Trade Union representatives;
Church Diocese representatives;
NHS representatives;
Parent Governor representatives on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at
Hertfordshire County Council;
Further Education establishments, pre-schools, playgroups, Children’s Centres,
toddler groups and day nurseries;
Libraries and Citizen’s Advice Bureaux;
Senior officers in Hertfordshire County Council’s Children’s Services
department and in Herts Property Services
The consultation letter was also published on the websites of the School.

2

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)
A range of useful local data on our communities can be found on Herts Insight and on the Equalities Hub
Title and brief description

Agenda Pack Page 107

January 2018 school census data on gender
split, English as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN
Statements (S), Education and Health Care
Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special
schools.

Date

Gaps in data
January 2018 school census data
Codicote
School

County
Averages

Students (Years R to 6)

234

101019

Number Minority Ethnic Students
(not White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

115

31683

35.06%

31.36%

Number EAL (English as an
alternative Language) (First
language Not English or believed
not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

71

17053

% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not
English or believed not to be
English)

21.65%

16.88%

Number with Statement (or EHCP
(S or E))

2

2050

0.61%

2.03%

40
12.20%

12147
12.02%

31

8761

9.45%

8.67%

% Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

% with Statement (or EHCP (S or
E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date
of Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at

3

date of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

155
47.26%
173
52.74%

51668
51.15%
49351
48.85%

Summary of data in the table above:

Agenda Pack Page 108

The percentage of Minority Ethnic and EAL students is significantly higher
than the countywide average for primary schools. The percentage of
students with a Statement (or EHCP) is lower than the countywide average.
The percentage of pupils who are eligible for FSM is slightly higher than the
countywide average for primary schools. The percentage of male students
is significantly less than the countywide average and the percentage of
female students is correspondingly higher than the countywide average.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

This proposal offers additional primary
places at an existing, outstanding
school in the heart of an existing
community.
Age

The school will be expected to phase
the provision of additional places with
the aim to provide sufficient capacity to
meet local demand and increase
places to meet the increasing pupil
4

What can you do?

Pupil numbers and age ranges will be kept
under close scrutiny to inform whether or not
the number of places available reflects the
need.
The position will continue to be monitored and
if any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

demand from new housing.

Agenda Pack Page 109

Disability

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.
School planning officers have liaised
with the Headteacher and identified a
number of children who have protected
characteristics We will continue to
liaise with the Headteacher and their
staff to identify any potential negative
impacts and take them into account
accordingly.
Should the proposals proceed;
appropriate advice will be sought in
respect of any changes that are made
to the school.
It is not currently anticipated at this
stage that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately because of
the issues of disability.
The new block of accommodation will
be designed to ensure accessibility by
all.

5

The school currently is and will continue to be
fully inclusive. The enlargement of the school
will meet the needs of children in the local
area, including those with Special Educational
Need (SEN) and/or disability.
Should the proposal proceed and issues arise
that require specific professional advice this
will be sought.
Any issues identified or known, as well as the
duties found within Part 6, Section 149 and
Schedules 10 and 13 of the Equality Act 2010
concerning disability will be factored into the
individual scheme designs. Any building
scheme will also meet the requirements to
avoid Disability Discrimination under Section
15 of the Equality Act 2010.
The position will continue to be monitored and
if any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 110

Gender
reassignment

Pregnancy and
maternity

Race

Religion or
belief

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

It is not currently anticipated at this
stage that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately because of
their gender reassignment.

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
The school will be required to accept all
children regardless of race or ethnicity.

It is not currently anticipated at this
stage that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately because of
their pregnancy or maternity.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race.

The expansion of existing schools
provides for enhanced education
opportunities and an enriched
curriculum offer which has a positive
impact on the whole school
community.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion or belief.

6

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

Sex/Gender

Sexual
orientation

Agenda Pack Page 111

Marriage and
civil partnership

Carers

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex/gender.

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sexual orientation.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
marriage or civil partnership.
Should the expansion proposals go
ahead it is anticipated that it will allow
more children to attend a school in
their locality and extend the range of
successful preferences available to
parents/carers.
Currently it does not appear that there
are any disproportionate negative
impacts concerning this protected
characteristic.

Other relevant
groups
Consider if there is
a potential impact

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people in other
relevant groups disproportionately.
7

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

What can you do?

Plan will be amended accordingly.

Agenda Pack Page 112

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

Should the enlargement proposal for Codicote C of E Primary School go ahead it will allow local children to access a local place and
extend the range of successful preferences available to parents/carers. Furthermore as and when the new housing is occupied, pupils
from the new housing developments in the village will also be able to access a local school place.
It will also provide for enhanced education opportunities and an enriched curriculum offer which has a positive impact on the whole school
community.
We will ensure that all new accommodation provided to the school as part of enlargement works will be fully accessible to disabled pupils
and staff. Any building scheme will be compliant with Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) regulations.

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

8

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

ii.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal

Agenda Pack Page 113

iii.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

Ensure that the proposals do not impact adversely upon pupils with
disabilities and ensure that the communications strategy takes into
account the differing needs of the local community including staff.

iv.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and group(s)
affected

Action planned

Expected
outcome

The need to address access and
equality issues when development the
layout of the new building.

This will form part of the design brief and
specification for the new school building

9

Design Brief &
build
specification
agreed

Measure of
success

Brief and
specification
ensure that
impact on

Lead officer and
timeframe

School Planning
Team – ongoing
through the
design process

Explore ways of supporting parents,
carers, governors and staff through the
change process.

Agenda Pack Page 114

Catering for disabled pupils and staff

protected
groups is
avoided
Ensure the communication strategy
Communication Strategy
recognises that some groups may require
strategy agreed ensures that
information in a different format for example if with school
stakeholders
they have a disability or do not speak English
are kept
as a first language.
informed and
fully
supported
We are aware that the school may have its
own communication strategy.
through the
change
process
Ensure that any known issues around
Regular
DDA
disability are factored into the individual
meetings with
compliance /
scheme designs and that all building
school and
needs of
schemes are DDA compliant.
issues fed into pupils with
design process protected
characteristics
We are aware that there are some pupils/staff
are catered
currently at the school with disabilities and
for.
this will be taken account of throughout the
process.

Alice Bearton –
July 2019

Alice Bearton –
ongoing through
design process –
July 2019

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer: Alice Bearton
Date: 23 January 2019
Head of Service or Business Manager: Pauline Davis
Review date:
18 April 2019

Date: 23 January 2019

10

APPENDIX B

1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Provision of funding for school based project to provide sufficient
accommodation to meet the number of pupils on roll.

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Phil Brunt/Tom Stacey/Dan Hardy

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

CS – School Planning

Lead officer contact details

Dan Hardy, Planning Officer. Ext. 28923

Agenda Pack Page 115

Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

Stakeholders

To identify the impact of the provision of funding to Watford UTC (a secondary
mixed academy), located at 18 Colonial way, Hertfordshire, WD24 4PT, for it to
provide accommodation to meet the need created by extending its age range
from Year 9 to Year 13 to Year 7 to Year 13.
The school will be responsible for delivering the expansion.
This assessment considers the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIAs)
undertaken to seek to identify whether any equality issues can be identified as
a consequence of a contribution of funds and how they may be addressed.

Parents/carers/pupils, staff and governors at the school concerned
Residents local to the school concerned
Students and Parents in the surrounding area
Secondary schools in the area
Local Members
The school will consult relevant parties.

2.

List of data sources used for this EqIA

Title and brief description

Agenda Pack Page 116

January 2018 school census data on gender split, English as an
additional language (EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN Statements (S),
Education and Health Care Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special schools

Date

Gaps in data (None)

Watford UTC

County Total

Students (Years R to 6)

181

82928

Number Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding Refused
and Not Obtained)

93

23348

% Minority Ethnic Students (not White
British and excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)

51.38%

28.15%

Number EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

36

10180

% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English)

19.89%

12.28%

4

2149

2.21%
12
6.63%

2.59%
9839
11.86%

16

5432

8.84%

6.55%

120
66.30%
61
33.70%

41775
50.38%
41153
49.62%

Number with Statement (or EHCP (S or
E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date of
Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at date of
Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students student’s at this school is significantly
higher than the County average and likewise EAL. However, the % of students with
Statement (or EHCP (S or E)) and SEN Provision (K) is lower than County average.
The % of pupils entitled to FSM’s is higher as is the % of male students.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

Age

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.

Agenda Pack Page 117

Disability

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of disability but the position will
be monitored if the Proposal proceeds

Gender
reassignment

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of Gender reassignment but the
position will be monitored if the
Proposal proceeds

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Pregnancy
and Maternity but the position will be
monitored if the Proposal proceeds

What can you do?

It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
Any issues identified or known, as well as the
duties found within Part 6, Section 149 and
Schedules 10 and 13 of the Equality Act 2010
concerning disability will be factored into the
individual scheme design. Any building
scheme will also meet the requirements to
avoid Disability Discrimination under Section
15 of the Equality Act 2010.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.

Agenda Pack Page 118

It is not anticipated that the proposals
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around sex/gender
but the position will be monitored if the
proposal proceeds.

It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around sexual
orientation but the position will be
monitored if the Proposal proceeds

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Race

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of race but the position will be
monitored if the proposals proceeds

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of their religion/belief

Sex/Gender

Sexual
orientation

Protected
characteristic
group

Marriage and
civil partnership

Agenda Pack Page 119

Carers

Other relevant
groups

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Marriage
and Civil Partnership but the position
will be monitored if the Proposal
proceeds

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of caring responsibilities but
the position will be monitored if the
Proposal proceeds

What can you do?

It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
It is felt by officers that should Cabinet approve funds to enable the delivery of sufficient accommodation to meet the number of pupils the
enlarged school will provide in their locality and continue the range of successful preferences available to parents/carers.

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment

Agenda Pack Page 120

SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS

None at this stage.

i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

ii.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal
iii.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

The County Council’s responsibility at this stage is limited to the
provision of funding for a school based project to provide sufficient
accommodation to meet the growing number of pupils on roll. If the
proposal is taken forward and funding provided then the county
council will monitor the implementation of the Academy’s Plans and
raise any concerns that it has regarding Equality issues with the
Academy directly, to ensure that the proposals, once
implementation commences, do not impact adversely upon pupils or
staff with protected characteristics.

iv.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

Agenda Pack Page 121

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and
group(s) affected

Action planned

Expected outcome

Measure of success

Agenda Pack Page 122

If the proposal is taken forward and
funding provided then the County
Council will seek to enter into a funding
agreement with the academy which
requires it to carry out the project in
accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and duties, including but
not limited to the Equality Act 2010.

Phil Brunt, School
Planning Officer
Feb - Apr 2019

If the proposal is taken forward and
funding provided then the County
Council will monitor the implementation
of the Academy’s Works and raise any
concerns that it has regarding Equality
issues with the Academy directly.

Building Management
Team
During implementation
of the project

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:

Lead officer and
timeframe

Dan Hardy
Pauline Davis

Date: 23 January 2019
Date: 23 January 2019

8

APPENDIX B

1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Provision of funding for school based project to provide sufficient
accommodation to meet the number of pupils on roll.

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Dan Hardy/Tom Stacey

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

CS – School Planning

Lead officer contact details

Dan Hardy, Planning Officer. Ext. 28923

Agenda Pack Page 123

Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

Stakeholders

To identify the impact of the provision of funding to Marlborough School (a
secondary mixed academy), Watling Street, St Albans, Hertfordshire, AL1 2QA,
for it to provide accommodation to meet the number of pupils on roll.
The school will be responsible for delivering the expansion.
This assessment considers the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIAs)
undertaken to seek to identify whether any equality issues can be identified as
a consequence of a contribution of funds and how they may be addressed.

Parents/carers/pupils, staff and governors at the school concerned
Residents local to the school concerned
Students and Parents in the surrounding area
Secondary schools in the area
Local Members
The school will consult relevant parties.

2.

List of data sources used for this EqIA

Title and brief description

Date

Gaps in data (None)

1159

County
Total
82928

317

23348

27.35%

28.15%

114

10180

9.84%

12.28%

7

2149

0.60%

2.59%

149
12.86%

9839
11.86%

93

5432

8.02%

6.55%

583
50.30%
576
49.70%

41775
50.38%
41153
49.62%

Marlborough School

Agenda Pack Page 124

January 2018 school census data on gender split, English as an
additional language (EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN Statements (S), Education &
Health Care Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at ESCs, PRUs and special schools.

No of Students
Number Minority Ethnic Students
(not White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
% Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
Number EAL (English as an
alternative Language) (First
language Not English or believed
not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not
English or believed not to be
English)
Number with Statement (or EHCP
(S or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or
E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date
of Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at
date of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

Marlborough School is a secondary mixed Academy for
pupils aged 11-18 within the St Albans priority area. The

sixth form is co-educational.
The percentage of students at Marlborough School EAL is
less than the countywide average as is those with a
Statement (S or E), however SEN Support (K) is slightly
higher as is the percentage of pupils entitled to FSM’s.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Agenda Pack Page 125

Age

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.

Disability

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of disability but the position will
be monitored if the Proposal proceeds

Gender
reassignment

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of Gender reassignment but the
position will be monitored if the

What can you do?

It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
Any issues identified or known, as well as the
duties found within Part 6, Section 149 and
Schedules 10 and 13 of the Equality Act 2010
concerning disability will be factored into the
individual scheme design. Any building
scheme will also meet the requirements to
avoid Disability Discrimination under Section
15 of the Equality Act 2010.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

Agenda Pack Page 126

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

Proposal proceeds

continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Pregnancy
and Maternity but the position will be
monitored if the Proposal proceeds

Race

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of the
issues of race but the position will be
monitored if the proposals proceeds

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of their religion/belief

Protected
characteristic
group

Sex/Gender

Sexual
orientation

What do you know1?
What do people tell you2

Agenda Pack Page 127

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

It is not anticipated that the proposals
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around sex/gender
but the position will be monitored if the
proposal proceeds.

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around sexual
orientation but the position will be
monitored if the Proposal proceeds

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will be responsible
for delivering the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible for taking
equalities into account. No mitigation is
currently required but the position will
continue to be monitored and if any issues in
respect of the protected characteristic are
identified then the Action Plan below will be
amended accordingly.

Marriage and
civil partnership

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of issues around Marriage
and Civil Partnership but the position
will be monitored if the Proposal
proceeds

Carers

It is not anticipated that the proposal
will affect people disproportionately
because of caring responsibilities but
the position will be monitored if the
Proposal proceeds

Other relevant
groups

Marlborough School is a secondary mixed Academy for pupils aged 11-18 within the St Albans priority area. The sixth form is coeducational.
The percentage of students at Marlborough School EAL is less than the countywide average as is those with a Statement (S or E),
however SEN Support (K) is slightly higher as is the percentage of pupils entitled to FSM’s.
Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
It is felt by officers that should Cabinet approve funds to enable the delivery of sufficient accommodation to meet the number of pupils the
enlarged school will provide in their locality and continue the range of successful preferences available to parents/carers.

Agenda Pack Page 128

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment .
SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS

None at this stage.

i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

ii.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal
iii.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

The County Council’s responsibility at this stage is limited to the
provision of funding for a school based project to provide sufficient
accommodation to meet the growing number of pupils on roll. If the
proposal is taken forward and funding provided then the County
Council will monitor the implementation of the Academy’s Plans and
raise any concerns that it has regarding Equality issues with the
Academy directly to ensure that the proposals, once implementation
commences, do not impact adversely upon pupils or staff with
protected characteristics.

iv.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

Agenda Pack Page 129

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and
group(s) affected

Action planned

Expected outcome

Measure of success

Agenda Pack Page 130

If the proposal is taken forward and
funding provided then the County
Council will seek to enter into a funding
agreement with the academy which
requires it to carry out the project in
accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and duties, including but
not limited to the Equality Act 2010.

Michael Dunnage,
School Planning Officer
Feb - Apr 2019

If the proposal is taken forward and
funding provided then the County
Council will monitor the implementation
of the Academy’s Works and raise any
concerns that it has regarding Equality
issues with the Academy directly.

Building Management
Team
During implementation
of the project

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:

Lead officer and
timeframe

Dan Hardy
Pauline Davis

Date: 23 January 2019
Date: 23 January 2019

8

